The Azukawa Metric and the Pluricomplex Green Function

by Crystal Anne Zeager

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Mathematics) in The University of Michigan 2011

Doctoral Committee:

Professor John E. Fornæss, Chair Professor Berit Stensønes Emeritus Professor B. Alan Taylor Professor Alejandro Uribe-Ahumada Associate Professor Finn Larsen

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I'd like to thank the mathematicians involved in my research: John Erik Fornæss, my advisor, for his patience and for motivating me to work on the topics in this thesis; Al Taylor, for suggesting to me the problem about the generalized Green function and for many helpful mathematical discussions; Elizabeth Wulcan, and Eugene Eisenstein, for helpful discussions about this thesis; Berit Stensønes, for suggesting my advisor and for moral support; and Lina Lee, Hyunsuk Kang, and Han Peters, for coauthoring papers with me before I started the work in this thesis.

Second, I'd like to thank my family for their love and support: my husband, Eugene Eisenstein, for listening to me and encouraging me throughout graduate school; my parents, Lester and Eunice Zeager, for supporting my academic goals; and my brother, Nathan Zeager, for his friendship.

Third, I'd like to thank my committee members for their time: my chair John Erik Fornæss; my second reader Al Taylor; math professors Berit Stensønes and Alejandro Uribe; and physics professor Finn Larsen.

Fourth, I'd like to thank the National Science Foundation and the Michigan math department, particularly John Erik Fornæss and Ralf Spatzier, for funding through the RTG Geometry grant, which gave me time to work on the topics in this thesis.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLI	EDGEMENTS	ii
CHAPTER		
I. Intro	duction	1
II. Back	${f ground}$	9
2.1	Definition of a Generalized Pluricomplex Green Function	9
2.2	Statement of Resolution of Singularities	13
2.3	Basics of Invariant Metrics	14
2.4	A Few Concepts from Pluripotential Theory	16
2.5	Applications of Invariant Metrics	18
III. Resu	lts on the Azukawa and Sibony Pseudometrics	22
3.1	Upper-Semicontinuity of the Azukawa Metric and Green Function	22
3.2	Comparison of the Metrics	27
3.3	Azukawa and Sibony Hyperbolicity	38
IV. A ge	neralized pluricomplex Green function	44
4.1	Some Simple Cases	44
4.2	A Lelong Type Number	48
4.3	Behavior under Holomorphic Maps	54
4.4	Plurisubharmonicity with Isolated Zeros using Resolution of Singularities	57
4.5	Plurisubharmonicity with Isolated Zeros using Monge-Ampère Methods	70
V. Othe	r Examples	85
5.1	Balanced Domains with Holes	85
5.2	Boundary Behavior of the Green Function	87
VI. Skwa	rczyński Metric	93
6.1	Skwarczyński Completeness and the Bergman Space	93
DIDITOCDA	DIIV	07

CHAPTER I

Introduction

The two main topics we study in this thesis are the Azukawa metric and the pluricomplex Green function. These two topics are closely related because the Azukawa metric is defined in terms of the pluricomplex Green function.

The Azukawa metric is an example of a biholomorphically invariant pseudometric. Recall that an invariant pseudometric on a domain Ω in \mathbb{C}^n is a function $F^{\Omega}(p,\xi)$: $\Omega \times \mathbb{C}^n \to [0,\infty)$ which satisfies

$$F^{\Omega}(p,\lambda\xi) = |\lambda|F^{\Omega}(p,\xi)$$

for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, and under a biholomorphism $\Phi : \Omega \to \Omega'$ has the following behavior

$$F^{\Omega}(p,\xi) = F^{\Omega}(\Phi(p), \Phi'(p) \cdot \xi).$$

Some of the most well known examples of invariant metrics are the Carathéodory, Kobayashi and Bergman metrics. The Azukawa and Sibony metrics that we study are most closely related to the Carathéodory and Kobayashi metrics, whereas the Skwarczyński metric that we study is most closely related to the Bergman metric.

Invariant metrics are an important tool in Several Complex Variables, and more recently they have also been used in Complex Dynamics. In Section 2.5 we discuss many examples of applications of invariant metrics.

At the end of the thesis we have a short section where we use the Skwarczyński metric to study the Bergman space, which is the space of holomorphic L^2 functions on a domain. The Bergman space is a central class of functions and is widely studied.

The second main topic of this thesis, the pluricomplex Green function, is the analog in Several Complex Variables of the classical Green function related to the Laplace equation. The classical Green function is a tool used to solve the Laplace equation. It is also closely related to harmonic and subharmonic functions, and in particular it is a reproducing kernel for harmonic functions. The pluricomplex Green function is closely related to the complex Monge-Ampère operator and plurisubharmonic functions. One way to define the pluricomplex Green function is as a solution to the extremal problem

$$g_{\Omega}(z, a) = \sup \{u(z) : u \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega, a)\},$$

where $u \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega, a)$ if it satisfies the following three properties:

- 1. u is plurisubharmonic on Ω ,
- 2. $u \leq 0$ on Ω ,
- 3. and $u(z) \log ||z a|| < c(u)$ in a neighborhood of a, where c(u) is a constant depending on u.

It can also be defined as the solution to the following Monge-Ampère problem: with Ω a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and $z \in \Omega$, does there exist a function $u_z(w) : \overline{\Omega} \to [-\infty, 0]$ satisfying the conditions

1.
$$(dd^c u_z)^n = 0$$
 on $\Omega \setminus \{z\}$,

- 2. $u_z(w) \sim \log ||z w||$ in a neighborhood of z,
- 3. u_z is continuous on $\overline{\Omega}$ and plurisubharmonic on Ω ,
- 4. $u_z = 0$ on $\partial \Omega$.

We will study a particular generalization of the pluricomplex Green function proposed by Al Taylor. In the process we study the behavior of the Monge-Ampère operator on $\log ||F||$ near the singularities for a holomorphic function F, which is an interesting topic in its own right.

We will now discuss the specifics of each chapter. In Chapter II we have some background topics. First, we discuss the motivation behind generalizing the classical Green function to the pluricomplex Green function, and we define a the further generalized pluricomplex Green function that we will study in this thesis. Second, we outline the background for Resolution of Singularities, which is a difficult theorem we use in one of our proofs. Third, we discuss the basics of invariant metrics. Fourth, we discuss some necessary background results from pluripotential theory. Finally, we have a section listing many applications of invariant metrics.

In Chapter III we study the Azukawa and Sibony metrics. Our main theorem in Chapter III is that the Azukawa metric is upper semicontinuous.

Theorem I.1. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain, and let u(z,w) be the pluricomplex Green function on Ω . Then u(z,w) is upper-semicontinuous.

We proved this result independently before discovering that Jarnicki and Pflug already published it in [20], and we still include it in this thesis because it represents work completed during the PhD. Next, we study the relationship between the closely related Azukawa and Sibony metrics on some explicit examples. These metrics are

known to be different, and we construct an explicit example of a domain on the metrics are different.

Theorem I.2. The Azukawa and Sibony metrics are different on the domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ defined by

$$f(z,w) := \frac{1}{4}\log|z| + \frac{1}{4}\log|w| + \frac{1}{4}\log|z - w| + \frac{1}{4}\log|z - iw|$$

$$\Omega = \{(z, w) : f(z, w) < 0\}$$

Finally, we study the hyperbolicity of the two metrics, and we construct a domain on which pointwise hyperbolicity of the metrics is different.

Theorem I.3. There exists a pseudoconvex domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ that is Azukawa pointwise hyperbolic but not Sibony pointwise hyperbolic. Define Ω to be

$$\{(z_1, z_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2 : |(z_1, z_2)| < f(z_1, z_2)\},\$$

where f is defined as

(1.1)
$$f(z_1, z_2) = f(z_1/z_2) = \begin{cases} (1 + |z_1/z_2|^2)^{1/2} e^{-v(z_1/z_2)} & z_2 \neq 0\\ 1 & z_2 = 0 \end{cases}$$

and $v(\lambda)$ is defined as

$$v(\lambda) = \max \left\{ \log |\lambda|, \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} k^{-2} \log |\lambda - 1/k| \right\}$$

An interesting further direction would be to study non-pointwise hyperbolicity.

In Chapter IV we study the regularity properties of a generalized pluricomplex Green function. Recall that the pluricomplex Green function is the solution to an extremal problem using plurisubharmonic functions with logarithmic singularities, or the solution to a certain Monge-Ampère equation. There is a significant body of research on a number of different generalized Green functions. The author is grateful to Al Taylor for suggesting the particular generalized Green function in this thesis, along with the question of whether it is plurisubharmonic. The main result of Chapter IV is that this generalized Green function is plurisubharmonic when the zeros of its related holomorphic function are isolated.

Theorem I.4. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n , and let $F:\Omega\to\mathbb{C}^n$ be holomorphic with isolated zeros. Then the generalized Green function U is plurisubharmonic.

In this section we also study a three simple cases where one can compare the generalized Green function to the usual pluricomplex Green function. The first two are based on the linear approximation of a holomorphic function.

Theorem I.5. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $F:\Omega\to\mathbb{C}^m$ be holomorphic. Then we can compare the generalized Green function U to the usual pluricomplex Green functions with poles at the zeros of ||F|| as follows:

$$U(z) \le \inf_{\{w: ||F(w)||=0\}} g_{\Omega}(z, w).$$

Theorem I.6. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $F:\Omega\to\mathbb{C}^m$ be holomorphic. Suppose that the rank of the complex Jacobian is n at each point w with ||F(w)||=0. If there is a function u satisfying $u\in \cap_{\{w:||F(w)||=0\}}\mathcal{K}(\Omega,w)$ then $u\in\mathcal{T}(\Omega,F)$. In particular in the case where ||F|| has a single zero, $g_{\Omega}(z,w)\leq U(z)$.

The third is for the case of homogeneous polynomials.

Theorem I.7. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n that includes the origin, and let $F = (f_1, ..., f_m)$ be a polynomial function where f_i are all homogeneous polynomials of the same degree, d, and which have common zero only at the origin. Then $U(z) = d \cdot g_{\Omega}(z, 0)$, where $g_{\Omega}(z, 0)$ is the usual pluricomplex Green function with pole at the origin.

We have one other relatively simple theorem where we construct an invariant $\nu^{GL}(\Omega)$ for the behavior near the singularity.

Theorem I.8. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $F:\Omega\to\mathbb{C}^m$ be holomorphic. Suppose there exists $u\in \cap_{\{w:||F(w)||=0\}}\mathcal{K}(\Omega,w)$. Suppose that the Green-Lelong numbers exist and are positive at each point w where ||F(w)||=0, and that for each w there is a number $\epsilon(w)>0$ such that there exists a function u satisfying $\frac{1}{\nu_w^{GL}(\log||F||)+\epsilon(w)}\cdot u(z)\in \mathcal{K}(\Omega,w)$ for each w, with u independent of w. Then $u\in \mathcal{T}(\Omega,F)$. In particular if ||F|| has a single zero, then $\nu^{GL}(\log||F||)\cdot g_{\Omega}(z,w)\leq U(z)$.

There is some hope that one could use generalized Green functions to define generalized Azukawa metrics. One potential application of generalized Azukawa metrics would be to get better estimates on the boundary behavior of the Kobayashi metric, since the Azukawa metric is a lower bound for the Kobayashi metric. The chapter is organized into four sections: two comparing the generalized and usual Green functions and two with different proofs of the main plurisubharmonicity result. Other than constructing generalized Azukawa metrics, further directions for this research include studying the same question where the zeros of the holomorphic function are not isolated, studying the relationship between this generalized Green function and the Green function with many poles in the case of isolated zeros, and checking whether theorems known for the pluricomplex Green function will follow analogously

for this generalized Green function now that plurisubharmonicity is known.

In Chapter V we include two examples which came up in the course of studying the problems of Chapter III. First, we study balanced domains with holes. One can write formulas for the Green function of balanced domains, so we extend these formulas to balanced domains with holes.

Theorem I.9. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a balanced pseudoconvex domain and let 0 denote the origin in \mathbb{C}^n . Let $K \subset\subset \Omega$ so that $0 \notin K$. Let $D(z) = \Omega \cap \{\alpha z : \alpha \in \mathbb{C}\}$ be the disk through z and the origin. If $D(z) \cap K$ is a closed subset of D(z) which is the $-\infty$ set for some plurisubharmonic function on D(z), then

$$u_{\Omega\setminus K}(0,z) = u_{\Omega}(0,z) = \log\frac{||z||}{r},$$

where r is the radius of D(z). Also,

$$F_A^{\Omega \backslash K}(0,\xi) = F_A^{\Omega}(0,\xi) = \frac{||\xi||}{r}.$$

Fornaess and Lee recently studied the boundary behavior of various metrics on the ring domain, which is a simple example of a balanced domain with holes, in [12]. Second, we study the boundary behavior of the pluricomplex Green function, which came out of a larger study of the regularity of the Green function and Azukawa metric. These were already known to not always be continuous, and we construct an example where the Green function cannot be continuously extended to the boundary.

Theorem I.10. There exists a domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ with $(0,0) \in \Omega$ so that the pluricomplex Green's function with singularity at zero, $u_{\Omega,0}$, is not in $C(\overline{\Omega} \setminus 0)$. The domain Ω has the following defining function

$$(1.2) \qquad \log|(z,w)| + \max\left\{-\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \epsilon_i \log \frac{1}{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \epsilon_i \log \left| \frac{1}{i}w - \left(1 - \frac{1}{i}\right)z\right|, -1\right\}$$

and ϵ_i are chosen so that

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \epsilon_i \log \frac{1}{i}$$

converges to a finite number [14, p.30].

In Chapter VI study the Skwarczyński metric, which is closely related to the Bergman metric. Recall that the Bergman space of a domain is the space of L^2 holomorphic functions on that domain, and that completeness of a metric roughly means that boundary points are infinite distance from interior points. The main theorem in Chapter VI is that Skwarczyński complete domains have infinite dimensional Bergman space.

Theorem I.11. If Ω is Skwarczyński complete, then the Bergman space, $L_h^2(\Omega)$, is infinite dimensional.

Our motivating question here is the well known problem of whether there exists a pseudoconvex domain with finite dimensional Bergman space. Wiegerinck constructed an example of a non-pseudoconvex domain with finite dimensional Bergman space in [34], but so far there are only partial results for pseudoconvex domains [21]. The main theorem in Chapter VI is joint work with Lina Lee, but I am including it in this thesis because we don't yet have plans to publish it elsewhere. Interesting further directions for this research would be whether Bergman complete domains have infinite dimensional Bergman space, and the related question of whether Skwarczyński completeness implies Bergman completeness.

CHAPTER II

Background

2.1 Definition of a Generalized Pluricomplex Green Function

In this section we will discuss the pluricomplex Green function and a generalization of it that we study in this thesis. For a detailed discussion of the pluricomplex Green function and related problems, see [23].

The classical Green function is a tool from partial differential equations used to solve the Laplace or Poission equations, which find harmonic functions or respectively functions with prescribed Laplacians given given boundary values. This Green function can be described either as a solution to a certain differential equation or as the upper envelope of subharmonic functions with the given boundary values. It can be used as a reproducing kernel to recover harmonic functions with given boundary values, and it can also be used to give a proof of the Riemann Mapping Theorem.

Harmonic and subharmonic functions can be on open subsets of \mathbb{R}^n , and thus can also be defined on open subsets of \mathbb{C}^n . However, they do not transform well under holomorphic maps because the composition of a harmonic or subharmonic function with a holomorphic map does not necessarily remain harmonic or subharmonic. Here's a simple example: consider the function $\phi = |z|^2 - |w|^2$ on \mathbb{C}^2 . To get $\Delta \phi$ we calculate the following derivatives:

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial z \partial \overline{z}} \phi = 1$$
$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial w \partial \overline{w}} \phi = -1,$$

so that ϕ is harmonic on \mathbb{C}^2 . Now consider the function $F:\mathbb{C}^2\to\mathbb{C}^2$ which sends $(z,w)\mapsto (zw,w)$. F is a biholomorphism off the line w=0. But $F\circ\phi$ is not harmonic off the line w=0. Calculating the derivatives we get:

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z \partial \overline{z}} \phi \circ F &= |w|^2 \\ \frac{\partial^2}{\partial w \partial \overline{w}} \phi \circ F &= |z|^2 - 1. \end{split}$$

Thus $\Delta \phi \circ F = |z|^2 + |w|^2 - 1$ so that $\phi \circ F$ is not even subharmonic, much less harmonic.

However, if we work in one dimesion, i.e. on a domain in \mathbb{C} , harmonic and subharmonic functions do transform well under holomorphic maps. In particular, if ϕ is subharmonic or harmonic and $F:\Omega\to\Omega'$ is holomorphic with $\Omega,\Omega'\subset\mathbb{C}$, then $\phi\circ F$ is subharmonic or harmonic.

To replace subharmonic and harmonic functions, in complex analysis people study plurisubharmonic and pluriharmonic functions. These are required to be subharmonic or harmonic, respectively, on each complex line rather than on open sets. Like harmonic and subharmonic functions in one dimension, these transform well under holomorphic maps.

The analog of the classical Green function in complex analysis again has the property of transforming well under holomorphic maps, because it is defined in terms of plurisubharmonic functions or in terms of a Monge-Ampère equation.

The pluricomplex Green function on a domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ with pole at a is defined by

$$q_{\Omega}(z, a) = \sup \{u(z) : u \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega, a)\},$$

where $u \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega, a)$ if it satisfies the following three properties:

- 1. u is plurisubharmonic on Ω ,
- 2. $u \leq 0$ on Ω ,
- 3. and $u(z) \log ||z a|| < c(u)$ in a neighborhood of a, where c(u) is a constant depending on u.

It turns out that $g_{\Omega}(z, a) \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega, a)$. The proof proceeds by considering the upper semicontinuous regularization g_{Ω}^* of g_{Ω} , which is the smallest upper semincontinuous function majorizing g_{Ω} , or equivalently

$$g_{\Omega}^*(z,a) = \limsup_{\zeta \to z} g_{\Omega}(\zeta,a).$$

One shows that $g_{\Omega}^*(z, a) \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega, a)$, and it follows that $g_{\Omega} = g_{\Omega}^*$. To show that g_{Ω}^* satisfies condition (1), one applies the following theorem of Lelong, see [27, p. 56]:

Theorem II.1 (Lelong). Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $(f_i)_{i\in I}$ be a family of plurisubharmonic functions on Ω which is bounded above on compacts. Let $F(z) = \sup_{i\in I} f_i(z)$. Then the upper semicontinuous regularization $F^*(z)$ is plurisubharmonic on Ω .

It is clear that $g_{\Omega}^*(z,a)$ satisfies condition (2). To show that g_{Ω}^* satisfies condition (3) one compares $g_{\Omega}(z,a)$ to $g_{B_{\epsilon}(a)}(z,a)$, where $B_{\epsilon}(a) \subset \Omega$ is a small ball centered at a. On a ball, we can calculate the pluricomplex Green function by restricting

to disks – they key point being that $\log ||z||$ is harmonic on disks. This calculation shows that the Green function on a ball centered at the origin is just $\log ||z/r||$, were r is the radius of the ball. It is easy to show that a smaller domain has a larger Green function, so that

$$g_{\Omega}(z, a) \le g_{B_{\epsilon}(a)}(z, a) = \log||z - a||/\epsilon,$$

whenever g_{Ω} and $g_{B_{\epsilon}(a)}$ are both defined, which is on $B_{\epsilon}(a)$. Since $\log ||z - a||/\epsilon$ is already upper semicontinuous, we get that

$$g_{\Omega}^*(z,a) \le g_{B_{\epsilon}(a)}^*(z,a) = \log||z-a||/\epsilon,$$

and rearranging this equation shows that $g_{\Omega}^{*}(z,a)$ satisfies condition (3).

We define a generalized pluricomplex Green function by replacing $\log ||z||$ with $\log ||F||$, where $F: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^m$ is a holomorphic function, following a suggestion of B. A. Taylor.

Definition II.2.

$$U_{\Omega}(z) = \sup \{u(z) : u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)\},$$

where $u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)$ if it satisfies the following three properties:

- 1. u is plurisubharmonic on Ω ,
- 2. $u \leq 0$ on Ω ,
- 3. and $u(z) \log ||F(z)|| < c(u, w)$ in a neighborhood of each point w where F(w) = 0, where c(u, w) is a constant depending on u and w.

Also following a suggestion of B. A. Taylor, we investigate the question of whether $U_{\Omega} \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)$. Our main result is the following:

Theorem II.3. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain and let $F : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^n$ be holomorphic with isolated singularities. Then $U_{\Omega}(z) \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)$.

2.2 Statement of Resolution of Singularities

In this section, we will outline the statement and definitions involved in Hironaka's resolution of singularities, which we will later use in our proof of Theorem II.3. Our sources are Grauert, Peternell, and Remmert [15] and Rudin [30]. It is not necessary for our result to use resolution of singularities in full generality, so we will refer the interested reader to [15] for a more complete picture.

Definition II.4 (Complex Analytic Subvariety). Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{C}^n . A set $V \subset \Omega$ is said to be an complex analytic subvariety, or subvariety, of Ω if

- 1. V is relatively closed in Ω
- 2. and every point $p \in \Omega$ has a neighborhood N(p) such that

$$V \cap N(p) = Z(f_1) \cap \cdots \cap Z(f_r)$$

for some $f_1, ..., f_r$ which are holomorphic on N(p), where $Z(f_i)$ denotes the zero variety of f_i .

Definition II.5 (Holomorphic map from a complex manifold to a complex analytic subvariety). Let M be a complex manifold and let V be a complex analytic subvariety in \mathbb{C}^n . A map $f: M \to V$ is holomorphic if f is holomorphic when considered as a map from charts in M to \mathbb{C}^n .

Definition II.6 (Weak Resolution of Singularities). Let X be a complex analytic

subvariety. A weak resolution of singularities of X is a proper surjective holomorphic map $f: \tilde{X} \to X$ such that \tilde{X} is a complex manifold.

Hironaka proved the first major results on the existence of a resolution of singularities [17], and the following statement is part of a general theorem that was proven by Arcoa-Hironaka-Vincente [1] and Bierstone-Milman [5] [6].

Theorem II.7. Every complex analytic subvariety has a weak resolution of singularities.

From now on we will abbreviate by just saying resolution of singularities. The additional hypotheses in the full resolution of singularities hold in our case, but we only need the hypotheses above for the proof of our theorem.

2.3 Basics of Invariant Metrics

In this section, we give discuss some of the common invariant metrics and their properties. For more detailed discussion of the metrics, see [19].

Definition II.8. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain, $p \in \Omega$, and $\xi = (\xi_1, ..., \xi_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$. Let Δ be the unit disk in \mathbb{C} , and let $\mathbb{B}^n(p,r) \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be the ball of radius r centered at p.

• Carathéodory pseudometric $F_C^{\Omega}(p,\xi)$ is defined as

$$F_C^{\Omega}(p,\xi) = \sup\{|f'(p) \cdot \xi| : f \in \mathcal{O}(\Omega, \Delta), f(p) = 0\},\$$

where $\mathcal{O}(\Omega, \Delta)$ is the set of holomorphic functions from Ω to Δ .

• Kobayashi pseudometric $F_K^{\Omega}(p,\xi)$ is defined as

$$F_K^{\Omega}(p,\xi) = \inf\left\{ |\alpha| : f \in \mathcal{O}(\Delta,\Omega), f(0) = p, \exists \alpha > 0, \alpha f'(0) = \xi \right\},\,$$

where $\mathcal{O}(\Delta, \Omega)$ is the set of holomorphic functions from Δ to Ω .

• Sibony pseudometric $F_S^{\Omega}(p,\xi)$ is defined as

$$F_S^{\Omega}(p,\xi) = \sup \left\{ (\partial \overline{\partial} u(p)(\xi,\overline{\xi}))^{1/2} = \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^n \frac{\partial^2 u(p)}{\partial z_i \partial \overline{z_j}} \xi_i \overline{\xi_j} \right)^{1/2} : u \in \mathcal{S}_{\Omega}(p) \right\},\,$$

where $S_{\Omega}(p)$ is the set of functions u such that $u:\Omega\to[0,1)$ vanishes at p, $\log u$ is plurisubharmonic, and u is C^2 near p.

• Azukawa pseudometric $F_A^{\Omega}(p,\xi)$ is defined as

$$F_A^{\Omega}(p,\xi) = \sup \left\{ \limsup_{\lambda \searrow 0} \frac{1}{|\lambda|} u(p+\lambda \xi) : u \in \mathcal{K}_{\Omega}(p) \right\},$$

where $\mathcal{K}_{\Omega}(p)$ is the set of functions u such that $u:\Omega\to[0,1)$, $\log u$ is plurisub-harmonic, and there exits M>0, r>0 such that $\mathbb{B}^n(p,r)\subset\Omega$ and $u(z)\leq M\|z-p\|$ for all $z\in\mathbb{B}^n(p,r)$.

Let K_{Ω} be the Bergman kernel of Ω .

Definition II.9. The Bergman metric $F_B^{\Omega}(p,\xi)$ is defined by

$$F_B^{\Omega}(p,\xi) = \left(\sum_{\nu,\mu=1}^n \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_\nu \partial \overline{z_\mu}} \log K_{\Omega}(z,z) \xi_\nu \overline{\xi_\mu}\right)^{1/2}$$

provided that K_{Ω} is nonvanishing on Ω .

A metric closely related to the Bergman metric is the Skwarczyński distance. It is defined using the Bergman kernel as follows.

Definition II.10. The Skwarczyński distance $\rho_{\Omega}(z', z'')$ is defined by

$$\rho_{\Omega}(z', z'') = \left(1 - \frac{|K_{\Omega}(z', z'')|}{\sqrt{K_{\Omega}(z', z')}\sqrt{K_{\Omega}(z'', z'')}}\right)^{1/2}.$$

Except for the Bergman and Skwarczyński metrics the other four metrics are non-increasing with respect to holomprhic mappings, that is, if $\Phi: \Omega_1 \to \Omega_2$ is holomprhic, then $F^{\Omega_1}(p,\xi) \geq F^{\Omega_2}(\Phi(p),\Phi_*(\xi))$ where F^{Ω_i} is one of $F_C^{\Omega_i},F_S^{\Omega_i},F_A^{\Omega_i}$, and $F_K^{\Omega_i}$. Moreover, they satisfy the following relationship:

(2.1)
$$F_C^{\Omega}(p,\xi) \le F_S^{\Omega}(p,\xi) \le F_A^{\Omega}(p,\xi) \le F_K^{\Omega}(p,\xi)$$

for all p and ξ . The Bergman metric behaves differently from the rest of metrics in the sense that it does not have non-increasing property, nor does it fit in the comparison (2.1). Between the Carathéodory and the Bergman metric the following is known.

Theorem II.11 (K. Hahn, [16]). In any complex manifold Ω , the Bergman metric F_B^{Ω} is always greater than or equal to the Carathéodory differential metric F_C^{Ω} if M admits them:

(2.2)
$$F_C^{\Omega}(p,\xi) \le F_B^{\Omega}(p,\xi).$$

However, Kobayashi and Bergman metrics do not have any such relation and they are in fact incomparable.

2.4 A Few Concepts from Pluripotential Theory

In this section we include statements of basic results from pluripotential theory that we will use in this thesis. A more complete reference would be [23].

Maximum principles are results that say certain kinds of function must take their maximums on the boundary. Below is the maximum principle for plurisubharmonic functions.

Theorem II.12 (The Maximum Principle for Plurisubharmonic Functions). Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $u \in \mathcal{PSH}(\Omega)$. Then either u is constant or for each $z \in \Omega$

$$u(z) < \sup_{w \in \partial\Omega} \left\{ \limsup_{y \to w, y \in \Omega} u(y). \right\}$$

A related concept is that of maximal plurisubharmonic functions.

Definition II.13 (Maximal Plurisubharmonic Function). Let u be a plurisubharmonic function on a domain Ω in \mathbb{C}^n . We say u is maximal if for every $G \subset \subset \Omega$ and for every function v which is upper semicontinuous on \overline{G} and plurisubharmonic on G and satisfies $v \leq u$ on ∂G , then $v \leq u$ on G as well.

The following theorem classifies maximal plurisubharmonic functions in terms of the Monge-Ampère operator, see [23].

Theorem II.14. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $u \in \mathcal{C}^2(\Omega) \cap \mathcal{PSH}(\Omega)$. Then u is maximal if and only if $(dd^c u)^n = 0$ in Ω .

In parts of this thesis we will be working with hyperconvex domains, which are a special kind of pseudoconvex domain defined by certain plurisubharmonic functions.

Definition II.15 (Hyperconvex). We say that a bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is hyperconvex if there is a continuous plurisubharmonic exhaustion function $\rho : \Omega \to (-infty, 0)$.

We also need to define the upper semicontinuous regularization of a function.

Definition II.16. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $u:\Omega\to [-\infty,\infty)$ be a function that is locally bounded above near each point in $\overline{\Omega}$. Then define the upper semicontinuous regularization u^* of u by the formula

$$u^*(x) = \lim_{y \to x, y \in \Omega} u(y).$$

The upper semicontinuous regularization is the smallest upper semicontinuous function that majorizes the original function.

2.5 Applications of Invariant Metrics

Complex analysis in several variables turns out to be quite different from complex analysis in one variable. There are many elegant tools in one complex variable that fail catastrophically in more than one variable, and as a result there are many basic questions still unanswered in higher dimensions. The Riemann Mapping Theorem is an example of such a failure. The Riemann Mapping Theorem says that all simply connected domains in \mathbb{C} , other than \mathbb{C} itself, are biholomorphic to the disk. Intuitively such domains are just the sets with no holes, so this represents quite a large class of domains. The existence of the biholomorphism means that we can answer all questions about such domains by answering them for the disk, and it is relatively simple to do do complex analysis on the disk because of its symmetries. In contrast, even the unit ball B(0,1) and polydisk $\Delta(0,1)$ are not biholomorphic in higher dimesions. Roughly, one can think of the ball as a circle and the polydisk as a square, and they can be described precisely as:

$$B(0,1) = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : ||z|| < 1 \}$$

and

$$\Delta(0,1) = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : |z_1| < 1, ..., |z_n| < 1 \}.$$

The proof that there is no biholomorphism from the ball to the polydisk is not

simple, and was quite surprising when it was first discovered. This proof relies on invaraint metrics, which turn out to play a large role in several complex variables.

An invariant metric can be thought of as a way to measure distance that is invariant under biholomorphism, which means that if f is a biholomorphism from Ω_1 to Ω_2 then the distance between p and q in Ω_1 is the same as the distance between f(p) and f(q) in Ω_2 . Formally, we say that $d_{\Omega}: \Omega \times \mathbb{C}^n \to [0, \infty)$ is a pseudometric if for all $p \in \Omega, \lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, and $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^n$

$$d_{\Omega}(p; \lambda \xi) = |\lambda| d_{\Omega}(p; \xi).$$

A pseudometric is distance decreasing if for any $f \in \mathcal{O}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2)$ we have

$$d_{\Omega_2}(F(p); F'(p)\xi) \le d_{\Omega_1}(p; \xi).$$

Distance decreasing metrics are an important subclass of invariant metrics, and most of the metrics in this thesis will be distance decreasing. The above equation with biholomorphic maps and equality would give the formal definition of biholomorphic invariance. These pseudometrics do not directly give distances between two points, but in most cases they can be integrated to give such distances.

Invariant metrics have many important applications in several complex variables. One of the most obvious questions they can be used to answer is under what conditions is a holomorphic map biholomorphic. There are a number of positive results in this direction, including the following well known result of Cartan.

Theorem II.17 (Cartan [25]). Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded domain, $f: \Omega \to \Omega$ be a holomorphic map, and p be a fixed point. Then f is a biholomorphism if and only if f is a Carathéodory or Kobayashi isometry at p.

There are also more general results which give conditions for when a holomorphic map between distinct domains is a biholomorphism [19]. One can also go the opposite direction and get results which give necessary conditions for biholomorphisms. One such result is the following theorem of Lempert.

Theorem II.18 (Lempert [19]). If $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is biholomorphic to a bounded convex domain, then the Carathéodory and Kobayashi metrics must be the same.

One of the most well known uses of invariant metrics to the problem of extending holomorphic functions to the boundary. Fefferman proved a well known result regarding this problem using the Bergman metric.

Theorem II.19 (Fefferman, [11]). Let $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be strictly pseudoconvex with smooth boundaries and let $F: \Omega_1 \to \Omega_2$ be a biholomorphism. Then F extends to a diffeomorphism from $\overline{\Omega}_1$ to $\overline{\Omega}_2$.

Invariant metrics have also started finding applications in complex dynamics, and in particular following result of Ueda has become a useful tool.

Theorem II.20 (Ueda [33]). Suppose $f : \mathbb{P}^k \to \mathbb{P}^k$ is holomorphic of degree $d \geq 2$. Then each Fatou component of f is Kobayashi hyperbolic.

An interesting result that can be proved with the Carathéodory metric is a theorem of Reiffen about fixed points.

Theorem II.21 (Reiffen, [29]). Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain. Then a holomorphic mapping $f: \Omega \to \Omega$ with $f(\Omega) \subset\subset \Omega$ has a unique fixed point.

There has also been much research on automorphism groups using invariant metrics. An example of such a result is the following classification by Stanton.

Theorem II.22 (Stanton, [32]). Let Ω be a bounded pseudoconvex domain in \mathbb{C}^n with smooth \mathcal{C}^1 boundary, and assume that the Carathéodory and Kobayashi metrics are $\frac{1}{\sqrt{n+1}}$ times the Bergman metric. Then Ω is biholomorphic to the ball.

This classification has a number of important consequences, including that any strongly pseudoconvex domain is biholomorphically equivalent to the ball if and only iff its automorphism group is not compact, and that a bounded domain with twice differentiable boundary is biholomorphic to the ball if and only iff its automorphism group acts transitively [19].

In addition to being useful in several complex variables, invariant metrics provide relatively simple proofs to a number of difficult theorems from one complex variable, including the Riemann Mapping theorem and Picard's theorems. Also, the construction of the Carathéodory and Kobayashi metric can be viewed as a generalization of the Schwarz lemma, and indeed one can use them to prove this lemma as well [26].

CHAPTER III

Results on the Azukawa and Sibony Pseudometrics

3.1 Upper-Semicontinuity of the Azukawa Metric and Green Function

The results from this section are results that I proved independently during my PhD, but later found out that the results had already been proven by Jarnicki and Pflug in [20].

In this section we study upper-semicontinuity of the Azukawa metric and the pluricomplex Green function. Whenever the Green function u(z, w) is upper-semicontinuous, the Azukawa metric is also upper-semicontinuous, [22], [19, p. 120]. We will prove that the Green function is upper-semicontinuous in Theorem III.7, and the following corollary follows from that result.

Corollary III.1. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain, and let $F_A^{\Omega}(z,\xi)$ be the Azukawa pseudometric on Ω . Then $F_A^{\Omega}(z,\xi)$ is upper-semicontinuous.

An application of Corollary III.1 is that the Azukawa metric is integrable and can be used to define a related a pseudodistance on all domains.

A number of regularity results for the pluricomplex Green function are already known. On bounded domains $u(\cdot, w)$ is locally uniformly continuous and $u(z, \cdot)$ is plurisubharmonic, c.f. [10], [27], [23]. On hyperconvex domains u is continuous, and on pseudoconvex domains it is upper-semicontinuous, c.f. [10]. We show that

u is upper semicontinuous on arbitrary domains. This answers a question asked by Marek Jarnicki and Peter Pflug in [19].

We will provide a proof of local uniformity of $u(\cdot, w)$ on bounded domains for the convenience of the reader.

Theorem III.2 (Demailly Lemma 4.13 ¹, [10]). Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain and let $a \in \Omega$. Given $\epsilon > 0$ and a neighborhood U of a, there exists a neighborhood U' of a with $U' \subset U$ so that for all $w_1, w_2 \in U'$ and for all $z \in \Omega \setminus \{U\}$ we have the following inequality

$$(1+\epsilon)^{-1} \le \frac{u(z,w_1)}{u(z,w_2)} \le 1+\epsilon.$$

Proof. We would like to construct a candidate function c(z) for $u(z, w_2)$ based on $u(z, w_1)$. Let $B(a, \alpha) \subset U$ with $\alpha > 0$ such that $B(a, \alpha) \subset \Omega$. Define

$$c(z) = \begin{cases} \log \frac{||z - w_2||}{R} & ||z - a|| < \eta \\ \max \left\{ (1 + \epsilon)u(z, w_1), \log \frac{||z - w_2||}{R} \right\} & ||z - a|| > \eta. \end{cases}$$

where $\eta \in (0, \alpha)$ is yet to be determined. In order to show that c(z) is plurisubharmonic, we need to show that for w_1, w_2 in some neighborhood of a, when $||z - a|| = \eta$

(3.1)
$$(1 + \epsilon)u(z, w_1) \le \log \frac{||z - w_2||}{R}.$$

Since Ω is bounded we can find r and $R \in (0, \infty)$ so that for all $w \in B(a, \alpha)$

$$B(r, w) \subset \Omega \subset B(R, w)$$
.

¹Note the hypothesis of a bounded domain is written at the beginning of section 4 in Demailly's paper.

Because larger domains have smaller Green functions, when $w \in B(a,\alpha)$ and $z \in \Omega$

(3.2)
$$\log\left(\frac{||z-w_1||}{R}\right) \le u(z,w_1) \le \log\left(\frac{||z-w_1||}{r}\right).$$

First let us work with the left hand side of equation 3.1. Using equation 3.2 we have that when $w \in B(a, \alpha)$ and $z \in \Omega$

$$(3.3) (1+\epsilon)u(z,w_1) \le (1+\epsilon)\log\left(\frac{||z-w_1||}{r}\right).$$

If we pick $w_1, w_2 \in B(a, \eta/2)$ then for $||z - a|| = \eta$

$$(3.4) \eta/2 < ||z - w_i|| < 3\eta/2.$$

Combining equations 3.3 and 3.4 when $w_1 \in B(a, \eta/2)$ and $||z - a|| = \eta$

$$(1+\epsilon)u(z,w_1) \le (1+\epsilon)\log\left(\frac{3\eta}{2r}\right).$$

Now working with the right hand side of equation 3.1 and using equation 3.4 we get when $w_2 \in B(a, \eta/2)$ and $||z - a|| = \eta$

$$\log\left(\frac{\eta}{2R}\right) \le \log\left(\frac{||z - w_2||}{R}\right)$$

If we can pick η such that

$$(1+\epsilon)\log\left(\frac{3\eta}{2r}\right) \le \log\left(\frac{\eta}{2R}\right)$$

then equation 3.1 will hold when $w_1, w_2 \in B(a, \eta/2)$ and $||z - a|| = \eta$. We can algebraically rearrange this equation to find out exactly how small η must be. So

now we have shown that c(z) is in fact plurisubharmonic for the appropriate choice of η .

Furthermore, it is clear that c(z) < 0 on Ω and that on the neighborhood $B(a, \nu)$ of $a, c(z) - \log ||z - w_2|| = -\log R$. So c(z) is a candidate for the Green function on Ω with singularity at w_2 . Thus on $\Omega, c(z) \leq u(z, w_2)$. Then when $w_1, w_2 \in B(a, \eta/2)$ and $||z - a|| > \eta$ we have

$$(3.5) (1+\epsilon)u(z,w_1) \le u(z,w_2)$$

We can make the same argument switching w_1 and w_2 to get

$$(3.6) (1+\epsilon)u(z,w_2) \le u(z,w_1)$$

Note that the inequality flips when we divide since the Greens functions are negative. Let $U' = B(a, \eta/2)$. Then the two equations 3.5 and 3.6 give us the theorem.

Corollary III.3. On unbounded domains $u(z,\cdot)$ is upper-semicontinuous for fixed z.

Proof. If
$$\bigcup_n \Omega_n = \Omega$$
 with $\Omega_1 \subset \Omega_2 \subset \cdots$, then $u_{\Omega_n} \setminus u_{\Omega}$.

The following theorems are well known.

Theorem III.4. The function $u(\cdot, w)$ is upper-semicontinuous for fixed w on bounded domains $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$.

Theorem III.5. Let $\{\Omega_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be such that $\Omega_n \subset \Omega_{n+1}$ for all n, and let $\Omega = \bigcup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\Omega_n$. Then $u_{\Omega_n}(z,w) \setminus u_{\Omega}(z,w)$. Now we will prove a lemma which shows that the Green function is uppersemicontinuous on bounded domains.

Lemma III.6. Let $\Omega \subset\subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded domain. Then the pluricomplex Green function u(z,w) on Ω is upper-semicontinuous.

Proof. Let (a,b) be a point in $\Omega \times \Omega$. If a=b then given a sequence $(z_i,w_i) \in \Omega \times \Omega$ converging to (a,a) and given $\epsilon > 0$ small, we can find I_1 so that for all $i > I, ||z_i - w_i|| < \epsilon$. Let $\operatorname{dist}(a,\partial\Omega) = d$. Then there exists I_2 such that for all $i > I_2, ||z_i - a|| < d/2$ so that $B(z_i, d/2) \subset \Omega$. Then for $i > \max I_1, I_2, u(z_i, w_i) < \log(2\epsilon/d)$. Letting $\epsilon \to 0$, we see that

$$\lim_{(z_i, w_i) \to (a, a)} u(z_i, w_i) = -\infty,$$

giving us upper-semicontinuity on the diagonal.

So now assume that that $a \neq b$ and let $\operatorname{dist}(a,b) = \delta$. Let $(z_i, w_i) \in \Omega \times \Omega$ such that $(z_i, w_i) \to (a, b)$. We can apply Theorem III.2 with $U = B(a, \delta/2)$. We get a neighborhood $U' \subset\subset U$ of a, and since $z_i \to a$ and $w_i \to b$ we can find I such that for all $i > I, z_i \in U'$ and $w_i \notin U$. We then get for i > I

$$(3.7) (1+\epsilon)^{-1}u(a,w_i) \ge u(z_i,w_i) \ge (1+\epsilon)u(a,w_i).$$

Taking \limsup of both sides of the left hand inequality and applying Theorem III.4, which says that that $u_w(z)$ is upper-semicontinuous in z, we get

$$\limsup_{i \to \infty} u(z_i, w_i) \le \limsup_{i \to \infty} (1 + \epsilon)^{-1} u(a, w_i) \le (1 + \epsilon)^{-1} u(a, b).$$

Letting $\epsilon \to 0$ we are done.

The main theorem of this section is the following.

Theorem III.7. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain, and let u(z,w) be the pluricomplex Green function on Ω . Then u(z,w) is upper-semicontinuous.

Proof of Theorem III.7. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain, and let $\Omega_n = \Omega \cap B(0, N)$. Then $\Omega_1 \subset \Omega_2 \subset \cdots$ and $\Omega = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \Omega_n$. Therefore by Theorem III.5

$$u_{\Omega_n}(z,w) \searrow u_{\Omega}(z,w).$$

By Lemma III.6 $u_{\Omega_n}(z, w)$ is upper-semicontinuous, and the decreasing limit of upper-semicontinuous functions is again upper-semicontinuous.

3.2 Comparison of the Metrics

The Azukawa and Sibony metrics have similar definitions, with the Sibony metric requiring more regularity of its candidate functions. The relationship between these metrics was studied in [22], and it turns out that the two metrics are different in some cases. Looking at the regularity of these metrics we see that the Azukawa metric is upper-semicontinuous, but there is an example of a pseudoconvex domain on which the Sibony metric is not upper-semicontinuous, c.f. [18]. Another way to see that the two metrics are different is to look at their indicatrices, which are the unit balls in the tangent space for a fixed point in the domain. The indicatrices for the Sibony metric are always convex, c.f. [31], but for balanced domains the Azukawa indicatrix at the origin is equal to the holomorphic hull of the domain, c.f. [3]. In this section we will construct an explicit example of a domain where the two metrics are different.

Theorem III.8. The Azukawa and Sibony metrics are different on the domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ defined by

$$f(z,w) := \frac{1}{4}\log|z| + \frac{1}{4}\log|w| + \frac{1}{4}\log|z - w| + \frac{1}{4}\log|z - iw|$$

$$\Omega = \{(z,w): f(z,w) < 0\}$$

Proof. Notice that Ω contains the complex lines $L_1 = \{z = 0\}, L_2 = \{w = 0\}, L_3 = \{z = w\}, L_4 = \{z = iw\}$. So if $u \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}(0,0)$, then u is bounded on L_i , so constant on L_i for i between 1 and 4. Since u is constant on L_1 and L_2 we have that

(3.8)
$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{z}}(0,0) = \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{w}}(0,0) = 0$$

The definition of complex partial differentiation is that for z = x + iy

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial z} = \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} - i \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}$$

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial \overline{z}} = \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + i \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}$$

So for real valued u with w = s + it

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{z}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial w} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + i \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} \right)
= \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + i \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} \right) - i \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + i \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} \right)
= \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial s \partial x} + i \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial s \partial y} - i \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t \partial x} + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t \partial y}$$

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}} &= \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial s} + i \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} \right) \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial s} + i \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} \right) - i \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial s} + i \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} \right) \\ &= \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x \partial s} + i \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x \partial t} - i \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y \partial s} + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y \partial t} \end{split}$$

Since u is C^2 in a neighborhood of (0,0) we have that

(3.9)
$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}}(0,0) = \overline{\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{z}}(0,0)}$$

Since u is constant on L_3 , by taking the derivative in the direction (ξ_1, ξ_1) at the point (0,0) we get that

$$0 = \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{z}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2 + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{w}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2 + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2 + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{z}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2 + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2 + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{z}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2$$

Combining this with observation 3.9 we get that

(3.10)
$$0 = 2\operatorname{Re} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2$$

Now since u is constant on L_4 , by taking the derivative in the direction $(i\xi_1, \xi_1)$ at the point (0,0) we get that

$$0 = \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{z}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2 + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{w}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2 + i\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2 - i\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{z}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2 = i\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2 - i\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{z}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2$$

Combining this with observation 3.9 we get that

(3.11)
$$0 = -2\operatorname{Im} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}}(0,0)|\xi_1|^2$$

Now combining observations 3.9, 3.10, and 3.11 gives us that

(3.12)
$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}}(0,0) = \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{z}}(0,0) = 0$$

Since equations 3.8 and 3.12 hold for each $u \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}(0,0)$, we have that $F_S^{\Omega}(0,\xi) = 0$ for every $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^2$.

Next, we would like to get a lower bound on the Azukawa metric that is greater than zero in a direction ξ . We'd like to show that the definining function for Ω is a competitor for the Green function, or in other words that $f(z,w) \in PS_{\Omega}(0,0)$. By definition f(z,w) < 0 on Ω . It is clear that f(z,w) is plurisubharmonic on Ω . Finally, to show that $f(z,w) - \log |(z,w)|$ is bounded above on a neighborhood of (0,0) we can split up $\log |(z,w)|$ to rewrite $f(z,w) - \log |(z,w)|$ as

$$\frac{1}{4}\log\frac{|z|}{|(z,w)|} + \frac{1}{4}\log\frac{|w|}{|(z,w)|} + \frac{1}{4}\log\frac{|z-w|}{|(z,w)|} + \frac{1}{4}\log\frac{|z-iw|}{|(z,w)|}$$

which is bounded above on a neighborhood of (0,0) since

$$\frac{|z|}{|(z,w)|}, \frac{|w|}{|(z,w)|} \le 1$$

$$\frac{|z-w|}{|(z,w)|}, \frac{|z-iw|}{|(z,w)|} \le \frac{2\max\{|z|,|w|\}}{|(z,w)|} < 2$$

Thus $f(z, w) \leq g_{\Omega,0}$. It follows that for $\xi = (1, \alpha)$

$$\limsup_{\lambda \to 0} \frac{e^{f(\xi\lambda)}}{|\lambda|} \le \limsup_{\lambda \to 0} \frac{e^{g_{\Omega,0}(\xi\lambda)}}{|\lambda|} = F_A^{\Omega}(\xi,0)$$

Now we can simplify e^f to get

$$e^{f(\xi\lambda)} = |\lambda||\alpha|^{1/4}|1-\alpha|^{1/4}|1-i\alpha|^{1/4}$$

Thus for $\alpha \neq 0, 1, -i$,

$$\limsup_{\lambda \to 0} \frac{e^{f(\xi\lambda)}}{|\lambda|} = |\alpha|^{1/4} |1 - \alpha|^{1/4} |1 - i\alpha|^{1/4} > 0$$

Lemma III.9. If $e^{2g_{\Omega,P}}$ is C^2 in a neighborhood of P, then

$$F_S^{\Omega}(P,\xi) = \left(\sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial^2 e^{2g_{\Omega,P}}}{\partial z_i \partial \overline{z_j}} \xi_i \overline{\xi_j}\right)^{1/2}$$

Proof. Let $\xi = (\xi_1, \xi_2)$ and let f be a competitor for the Green's function. Now suppose $e^{2f(z,w)}$ is C^2 in a neighborhood of P. We will show that e^{2f} is a competitor for the Sibony metric. We have the four conditions

1.
$$e^{2f(P)} = 0$$
 since $f(P) = -\infty$

2. $e^{2f(P)}$ is C^2 in a neighborhood of P by assumption

3. $\log e^{2f} = 2f$ is plurisubharmonic since f is plurisubharmonic

4.
$$0 \le e^{2f} \le 1 \text{ since } f < 0$$

Conversely, we will show that given any u which is a competitor for the Sibony metric, the function $\frac{1}{2} \log u(z, w)$ is a competitor for the Green's function. We have the three conditions

- 1. $\frac{1}{2} \log u$ is plurisubharmonic since $\log u$ is assumed to be plurisubharmonic for u to be a competitor function for the Sibony metric.
- 2. $\frac{1}{2} \log u \leq 0$ on Ω since $0 \leq u \leq 1$. Follow the argument for the pluricomplex Green function: Suppose there is a point Q in Ω so that u(Q) = 1. Then since u is plurisubharmonic, we can follow any path in Ω and use the maximum principle to show that $u \equiv 1$. But then $u(P) \neq 0$. So in fact we have that $0 \leq u < 1$, so $\frac{1}{2} \log u < 0$.
- 3. We would like to show that

(3.13)
$$\frac{1}{2}\log u(z,w) - \log |(z,w)| = \frac{1}{2}\log \left(\frac{u(z,w)}{|(z,w)|^2}\right)$$

is bounded above on a deleted neighborhood of P. For small ϵ let

$$M = \max_{i,j} \left\{ \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z_i \partial \overline{z_j}}(z) : |(z_1, z_2) - P| < \epsilon \right\}$$

For small ϵ such an M exists since u is C^2 in a neighborhood of P. Note also that u(P)=0 and all the first derivatives of u are zero at P because P is a local minimum. Then for $|(z,w)-P|<\epsilon$ we can write

$$u(z, w) = |u(z, w)| \le 16M|(z, w)|^2$$

Which gives us that equation 3.13 is bounded above on a neighborhood of P since

$$\frac{u(z,w)}{|(z,w)|^2} \le 16M$$

We now cliam that there is a bijective correspondence between competitors for the Sibony metric (u), and competitors for the Green function (f) which are C^2 in a neighborhood of P. This is shown by the work above and the following two equations

$$e^{2\frac{1}{2}\log u} = u$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\log\left(e^{2f}\right) = f$$

Now suppose that

$$(3.14) \quad \sup \left\{ \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^{2} u}{\partial z_{i} \partial \overline{z_{j}}} (P) \xi_{i} \overline{\xi_{j}} \right)^{1/2} : u \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}(P) \right\} > \left(\sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial^{2} e^{2g_{\Omega,P}}}{\partial z_{i} \partial \overline{z_{j}}} \xi_{i} \overline{\xi_{j}} \right)^{1/2}$$

Note that the \geq version of the inequality holds trivially because $e^{2g_{\Omega,P}}$ is assumed to be C^2 in a neighborhood of P and hence is a competitor function. So if we show that > does not hold we will have equality. Let x,y be real vectors that span the complex subspace generated by ξ . Then equation 3.14 is equivalent to

$$\frac{\partial^2 u^*}{\partial^2 x}(P) + \frac{\partial^2 u^*}{\partial^2 y}(P) > \frac{\partial^2 e^{2g_{\Omega,P}}}{\partial^2 x}(P) + \frac{\partial^2 e^{2g_{\Omega,P}}}{\partial^2 y}(P)$$

for some competitor for the Sibony metric u^* . Then either

(3.15)
$$\frac{\partial^2 u^*}{\partial^2 x}(P) > \frac{\partial^2 e^{2g_{\Omega,P}}}{\partial^2 x}(P)$$

or

(3.16)
$$\frac{\partial^2 u^*}{\partial^2 y}(P) > \frac{\partial^2 e^{2g_{\Omega,P}}}{\partial^2 y}(P)$$

Again we note that $u(P) = e^{2g_{\Omega,P}}(P) = 0$ and the first derivatives of each of these are all zero. Then if either of equation 3.15 or equation 3.16 hold, $u^* > e^{2g_{\Omega,P}}$ in a neighborhood of P in either the x or the y direction. But $\frac{1}{2} \log u^*$ is a competitor for the Green function, so this is impossible.

Theorem III.10. There exists a bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ on which the Sibony and Azukawa pre-metrics are different. Let f(z,w) be as in Theorem III.8. Let $h_R(z,w) = \max\{f(z,w), |(z,w)| - R\}$. Let

$$\Omega_R = \{(z, w) : h_R(z, w) < 0\}$$

Then for large enough R, $\Omega := \Omega_R$ will work.

Proof. Notice that the disks $D_1 = \{(0, w) : |w| < R\}, D_2 = \{(z, 0) : |z| < R\}, D_3 = \{(z, z) : |z| < R/\sqrt{2}\}, D_4 = \{(iw, w) : |w| < R/\sqrt{2}\}$ are contained in Ω_R and have modulus R. Thus we get the inequality

$$g_{\Omega_R,0}|_{D_i} \le \log \frac{|(z,w)|}{R}$$

But since $\Omega_R \subset \mathbb{B}_R$, where \mathbb{B}_R is the ball of radius R, we get the inequality

$$g_{\Omega_R,0} \ge \log \frac{|(z,w)|}{R}$$

Thus

$$g_{\Omega_R,0}|_{D_i} = \log \frac{|(z,w)|}{R}$$

for i = 1..4. We can calculate the derivatives for $e^{2g\Omega_{R},0}$ in some of these directions to get estimates on the derivatives of u, for u in the admissible class for the Sibony metric.

By the proof of Lemma III.9, $\frac{1}{2} \log u$ is a competitor for the Green function so $u \leq e^{2g_{\Omega_R,0}}$. Note that $u(0,0) = e^{2g_{\Omega_R,0}}(0,0) = 0$. Also, u and $e^{2g_{\Omega_R,0}}$ have a local minimum at (0,0), so all their first derivatives are zero at the origin. Thus

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial^2 x}(0,0) \le \frac{\partial^2 e^{2g_{\Omega_R,0}}}{\partial^2 x}(0,0)$$

And the same statements hold when replacing x with y, s, or t. Notice that

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{z}} &= \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + i \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} \right) \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + i \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} \right) - i \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + i \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} \right) \\ &= \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial^2 x} + i \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x \partial y} - i \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y \partial x} + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial^2 y} \\ &= \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial^2 x} + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial^2 y} \end{split}$$

This is a result about the mixed second derivative on D_1 , and the analogous result will hold for D_i with i = 2..4. So we have that for s in the direction of D_i

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial s \partial \overline{s}}(0,0) \le \frac{\partial^2 e^{2g_{\Omega_R,0}}}{\partial s \partial \overline{s}}(0,0)$$

By noticing that mixed second derivative on D_i is $1/R^2$ for i = 1..4, we get that for D_1 and D_2

$$\frac{\partial^2 e^{2g_{\Omega_R,0}}}{\partial z \partial \overline{z}}(0,0) = \frac{\partial^2 e^{2g_{\Omega_R,0}}}{\partial w \partial \overline{w}}(0,0) = \frac{1}{R^2}$$

To calculate the mixed second derivative on D_3 in the direction $\xi = (\xi_1, \xi_1)/|\sqrt{2}\xi_1|$, we get that

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial s \partial \overline{s}}(0,0) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{z}}(0,0) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{w}}(0,0) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}}(0,0) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{z}}(0,0)
\leq \frac{1}{2R^2} + \frac{1}{2R^2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}}(0,0) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{z}}(0,0)$$

Nothing that the second partial in the direction D_i is also smaller than $1/R^2$, this shows that

$$\left| \operatorname{Re} \frac{\partial^2 e^{2g_{\Omega_R,0}}}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}} (0,0) \right| \le 2/R^2$$

Similarly if we calculate the mixed second derivative on D_4 in the direction $\xi = (i\xi_2, \xi_2)/|\sqrt{2}\xi_2|$, we get that

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial s \partial \overline{s}}(0,0) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{z}}(0,0) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{w}}(0,0) + i \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}}(0,0) - i \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{z}}(0,0)
\leq \frac{1}{2R^2} + \frac{1}{2R^2} + i \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}}(0,0) - i \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial w \partial \overline{z}}(0,0)$$

This shows that

$$\left| \operatorname{Im} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z \partial \overline{w}}(0,0) \right| \le 2/R^2$$

Thus for u a competitor for the Sibony metric we have that

$$\sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z_i \partial \overline{z_j}} (0,0) \xi_i \overline{\xi_j} \le \frac{1}{R^2} (|\xi_1|^2 + 4 \operatorname{Re} \xi_1 \overline{\xi_2} + |\xi_2|^2)$$

Which gives us that

$$F_S^{\Omega_R}(0,\xi) \le \frac{1}{R} (|\xi_1|^2 + 4 \operatorname{Re} \xi_1 \overline{\xi_2} + |\xi_2|^2)^{1/2}$$

Next we would like to show that f(z, w) is a competitor for the Green function on Ω_R . We have the following

- 1. f(z, w) is clearly plurisubharmonic on Ω_R .
- 2. f(z, w) < 0 on Ω_R since by definition of Ω_R both f(z, w) and |(z, w)| R are negative on Ω_R .
- 3. In Theorem III.8 we showed that it is a competitor on Ω , giving us that $f(z, w) \log |(z, w)|$ was bounded above in a neighborhood of the origin. This carries over to Ω_R .

We can now follow the same proof as Theorem III.8 to get that in the direction $\xi^* = (1,\alpha)$

$$F_A^{\Omega_R}(0,\xi^*) = |\alpha|^{1/4} |1 - \alpha|^{1/4} |1 - i\alpha|^{1/4} > 0$$

The estimate on the Sibony metric in the direction ξ^* would be

$$F_S^{\Omega_R}(0,\xi^*) \le \frac{1}{R} (1 + 4\text{Re}\alpha + |\alpha|^2)^{1/2}$$

Thus for large enough R when $\alpha \neq 0, 1, i$

$$F_S^{\Omega_R}(0,\xi^*) < F_A^{\Omega_R}(0,\xi^*)$$

Now Ω_R is hyperconvex because $h_R(z, w)/R$ is a continuous plurisubharmonic exhaustion that takes values in [-1, 0).

- 1. $h_R(z, w)/R$ is clearly plurisubharmonic.
- 2. $h_R(z, w)/R$ is continuous because f(z, w) is countinuous outside of D_i , |(z, w)| R is continuous everywhere, and |(z, w)| R dominates on D_i .
- 3. Both f(z, w) and |(z, w)| R are always negative so their maximum is negative on Ω_R . |(z, w)| R is larger than -R so our function takes values in [-R, 0)
- 4. Let $S(c) = \{(z, w) : h_R(z, w)/R < -c\}$. Then $S(c) = S_1(c) \cap S_2(c)$ where $S_1(c) = \{(z, w) : f(z, w) < -c\}$ and $S_2(c) = \{(z, w) : |(z, w)| R < -c\}$. Looking at $S_2(c)$ gives us that $S(c) \subset \mathbb{B}_{R-c}$, so S(c) is compactly contained away from the boundary of \mathbb{B}_R . Now notice that since f(z, w) is continuous away from L_i , so $S_1(c)$ must be compactly contained away from the boundary of Ω . Thus S(c) is contained away from the boundary of Ω and S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) and S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) and S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) and S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) and S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) and S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) and S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) and S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) and S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) and S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) and S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) and S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) and S(c) is contained away from the boundary of S(c) and S(c) is contained away from the boundary o

3.3 Azukawa and Sibony Hyperbolicity

The Azukawa and Sibony metrics are closely related but different, so an interesting question is whether Azukawa and Sibony hyperbolicity are equivalent. There are two notions of hyperbolicity that one could study, which we define now.

Definition III.11 (Pointwise Hyperbolicity). We say that $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is pointwise hyperbolic with respect to a pseudometric $F_m^{\Omega}(z,\xi)$ if for all $\xi \neq 0$, $F_m^{\Omega}(z,\xi) > 0$.

Definition III.12 (Hyperbolicity). We say that $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is hyperbolic with respect

to a pseudometric $F_m^\Omega(z,\xi)$ if for all $z\in\Omega$ there exists a neighborhood $U\subset\Omega$ and a constant C>0 such that $F_m^W(z,\xi)\geq C||\xi||$ for all $z\in U$ and $\xi\in\mathbb{C}^n$.

Metric hyperbolicity as defined above is closely related to distance hyperbolicity. Here distance refers to the corresponding distance given by integrating the metric, which gives a distance between two points rather than assigning a length to each tangent vector. Distance hyperbolicity means that any two non-equal points have non-zero distance. For the Kobayashi metric, metric and distance hyperbolicity are equivalent [19, p. 207]. For the Carathéodory metric, metric and distance hyperbolicity are equivalent for domains in \mathbb{C} , but in higher dimensions the question is still open [19, p. 207, p. 28]. On the other hand, pointwise hyperbolicity does not in general imply distance hyperbolicity. Even though integrating over any given curve results in a positive distance, the infimum over all curves may still be zero. For an example of a domain that is pointwise hyperbolic with respect to the Kobayashi metric but which is not Kobayashi hyperbolic, see [19, p. 98].

In order to find a relationship among hyperbolicities of various metrics, we first look at how the metrics themselves are related. It is known that any distance decreasing map which agrees with the Poincare metric on the disk lies between the Carathéodory and Kobayashi metrics [19, p. 17], so we get the following inequality

$$F_C^{\Omega}(z,\xi) \le F_S^{\Omega}(z,\xi) \le F_A^{\Omega}(z,\xi) \le F_K^{\Omega}(z,\xi).$$

Thus Carathéodory (pointwise) hyperbolicity \Rightarrow Sibony (pointwise) hyperbolicity \Rightarrow Azukawa (pointwise) hyperbolicity \Rightarrow Kobayashi (pointwise) hyperbolicity. The domain $\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0,1\}$ shows that Kobayashi (pointwise) hyperbolicity is not equivalent to Carathéodory, Sibony, or Azukawa (pointwise) hyperbolicity in general. For hyperbolicity of this domain, one just notes that it is covered by the disk, c.f. [19, p.

206]. For pointwise hyperbolicity, one can apply Landau's theorem. A special case of Landau's theorem that will suffice is the following.

Theorem III.13 (Landau). Let $f: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0,1\}$ be a holomorphic mapping with expansion

$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + a_2 z^2 + \cdots,$$

where $a_1 \neq 0$. Let τ denote the inverse of the elliptic modular function. Then

$$1 \le \frac{2\text{Im}\,(\tau(a_0))}{|a_1||\tau'(a_0)|}$$

A proof of Landau's theorem can be found in [8, p. 196-197]. We will now use Landau's theorem to show that $\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0,1\}$ is pointwise Kobayashi hyperbolic.

Proposition III.14. The domain $\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0,1\}$ is pointwise Kobayashi hyperbolic.

Proof. Let $p \in \Omega$ and let $f : \mathbb{D} \longrightarrow \Omega$ be a holomorphic mapping with f(0) = p. Then by Theorem III.13, we have

$$\frac{1}{|f'(0)|} \ge \frac{|\tau'(p)|}{2\text{Im}\{\tau(p)\}}$$

As τ is conformal, τ' does not vanish. Since this estimate is independent of f, the Kobayashi metric does not vanish.

For our theorem about Azukawa and Sibony pointwise hyperbolicity we will need the following definition.

Definition III.15. Let λ be in the unit disk. We say that $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is a balanced domain if $z \in \Omega \Rightarrow \lambda z \in \Omega$. The Minkowski function $h(z) : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ of a balanced domain Ω is given by

(3.17)
$$h(z) = \inf\{t > 0 : z/t \in \Omega\}.$$

Notice that $\Omega = \{z \in \mathbb{C}^n : h(z) < 1\}$. It is known that if Ω is a balanced domain, then the pluricomplex Green function is given by

$$(3.18) u(0, w) = h(w),$$

and the Azukawa metric is given by

(3.19)
$$F_A^{\Omega}(0,\xi) = h(\xi),$$

where h is the Minkowski function on Ω , c.f. [19, p. 119].

One might suspect that Azukawa and Sibony hyperbolicity could be equivalent since the two metrics are so closely related. We will give an example of a pseudoconvex domain which is pointwise Azukawa hyperbolic but not pointwise Sibony hyperbolic. The domain we use was constructed by Azukawa in [2].

Theorem III.16. There exists a pseudoconvex domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ that is Azukawa pointwise hyperbolic but not Sibony pointwise hyperbolic. Define Ω to be

$$\{(z_1, z_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2 : |(z_1, z_2)| < f(z_1, z_2)\},\$$

where f is defined as

(3.20)
$$f(z_1, z_2) = f(z_1/z_2) = \begin{cases} (1 + |z_1/z_2|^2)^{1/2} e^{-v(z_1/z_2)} & z_2 \neq 0 \\ 1 & z_2 = 0 \end{cases}$$

and $v(\lambda)$ is defined as

$$v(\lambda) = \max \left\{ \log |\lambda|, \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} k^{-2} \log |\lambda - 1/k| \right\}$$

Proof. Azukawa showed in [2] that Ω is a balanced pseudoconvex domain, so we can apply equation 3.19 to get that

(3.21)
$$F_A^{\Omega}((0,0),\xi) = h(\xi),$$

where h is the Minkowski function defined in equation 3.17.

Complex lines through the origin are of the form $(a\tau,b\tau)$ with $a,b\in\mathbb{C}$ constants and $\tau\in\mathbb{C}$ a complex parameter. So when $z_2\neq 0$, $|z_1/z_2|=a/b$ is well defined and finite. We want to check that no complex lines through the origin are contained in Ω . If Ω contained a complex line through the origin, we would have $f(a\tau,b\tau)=\infty$ for some (a,b). In the case $z_2\neq 0$, since a/b is finite we don't need to worry about the term $(1+|z_1/z_2|^2)^{1/2}$. The exponential term could only cause us trouble if $v(z_1/z_2)=-\infty$. Since v is defined as a maximum, both terms in it would have to be $-\infty$. The first term being $-\infty$ would mean that $z_1/z_2=0$, i.e. a=0. Once a=0, the second term becomes $\sum_{k=2}^{\infty} k^{-2} \log(1/k)$, which converges to a finite number. Thus Ω contains no complex lines through the origin. Then by formula 3.21, Ω is Azukawa pointwise hyperbolic at the origin.

On the other hand, candidates for the Sibony metric must lie underneath the Green function. Since Ω is a balanced pseudoconvex domain, we can apply equation 3.18 to get $u(0,w) = \log h(w)$. Again considering complex lines through the origin, $(a\tau,b\tau)$, we see that if a=1/k and b=1 then the second term in $v(\lambda)$ is $-\infty$. Since the first term is $\log |1/k|$, we see that a disk of radius $k(1+|1/k|^2)^{1/2}$ in that direction is contained in Ω . As $k\to\infty$ we get disks of arbitrarily large radius through the origin, and the directions of these disks approach the direction $z_1=0$. Since Ω contains arbitrarily large disks near $z_1=0$ and since candidates v for the Sibony metric are C^2 near the origin, we must have $v|_{\{z_1=0\}}=0$ near the origin. Thus the

Sibony metric in this direction is zero.

Note that this provides an example of a domain that is Kobayashi pointwise hyperbolic at the origin but not Kobayashi hyperbolic, since balanced domains are Kobayashi hyperbolic if and only if they are bounded, [24].

This result contrasts the result for distance hyperbolicity. Kodama showed that for balanced domains, Carathéodory distance hyperbolicity and Kobayashi distance hyperbolicity are equivalent, and that these two properties are also equivalent to the domain being bounded, [24]. For Kobayashi distance hyperbolicity the metric must be locally uniformly bounded away from zero, which our example is not.

It would be an interesting question to see whether Azukawa and Sibony hyperbolicity are equivalent.

CHAPTER IV

A generalized pluricomplex Green function

4.1 Some Simple Cases

In this section we will study the generalized Green function U from Definition II.2 in Section 2.1 in certain cases that have simple proofs. We will prove three theorems which compare the generalized Green function to the usual pluricomplex Green function.

Theorem IV.1. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $F:\Omega\to\mathbb{C}^m$ be holomorphic. Then we can compare the generalized Green function U to the usual pluricomplex Green functions with poles at the zeros of ||F|| as follows:

$$U(z) \le \inf_{\{w: ||F(w)||=0\}} g_{\Omega}(z, w).$$

Proof. Let $F = (f_1, ..., f_m)$. Then each f_i is totally differentiable since the partial derivatives exist and are continuous. Assume that w = 0. So we get

$$\limsup_{z \to 0} \frac{|f_i(z)|}{||z||} \le \limsup_{z \to 0} \frac{|f_i(z) - f_i'(0) \cdot z| + |f_i'(0) \cdot z|}{||z||}$$

$$\le \limsup_{z \to 0} \frac{|f_i(z) - f_i'(0) \cdot z|}{||z||} + \limsup_{z \to 0} \frac{|f_i'(0) \cdot z|}{||z||}$$

$$= \limsup_{z \to 0} \frac{|f_i'(0) \cdot z|}{||z||}$$

$$\le \limsup_{z \to 0} \frac{||f_i'(0)|| \cdot ||z||}{||z||}$$

$$= ||f_i'(0)||.$$

Thus

$$\limsup_{z \to 0} \frac{||F(z)||^2}{||z||^2} = \limsup_{z \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^m \frac{|f_i(z)|^2}{||z||^2} \le \sum_{i=1}^m ||f_i'(0)||^2.$$

So for any competitor $u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)$, in a neighborhood of the origin

$$u(z) \le \log ||F(z)|| + c(u)$$

$$= \log ||z|| + \log \frac{||F(z)||}{||z||} + c(u)$$

$$\le \log ||z|| + c'(u),$$

which shows that $u \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega, 0)$, i.e. u is also a candidate for the usual pluricomplex Green function, $g_{\Omega}(z, 0)$ on Ω . Taking the supremum over $u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)$ we get that $U(z) \leq g_{\Omega}(z, 0)$. We were assuming w = 0 but this argument would work for any $w \in \Omega$.

An easy example in which the generalized Green function is strictly less than the Green function even when F has a single isolated zero is the unit disk with the

function $F(z) = z^2$. Then Green function on the disk is $\log |z|$, but $\log |z| - \log |z|^2$ is unbounded as $z \to 0$.

Theorem IV.2. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $F: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^m$ be holomorphic. Suppose that the rank of the complex Jacobian is n at each point w with ||F(w)|| = 0. If there is a function u satisfying $u \in \bigcap_{\{w:||F(w)||=0\}} \mathcal{K}(\Omega,w)$ then $u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega,F)$. In particular in the case where ||F|| has a single zero, $g_{\Omega}(z,w) \leq U(z)$.

Proof. Again assume that w = 0. We will do something similar to the last proof, except now we will consider the reciprocal of $\frac{||F(z)||}{||z||}$. We can use the triangle inequality and the fact that F is totally differentiable to show that

$$\begin{split} & \liminf_{z \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^m \frac{|f_i(z)|^2}{||z||^2} \ge \liminf_{z \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^m \frac{(-|f_i(z) - f_i'(0) \cdot z| + |f_i'(0) \cdot z|)^2}{||z||^2} \\ & \ge \liminf_{z \to 0} \left(\sum_{i=1}^m \frac{|f_i'(0) \cdot z|^2}{||z||^2} \right. \\ & \quad + \sum_{i=1}^m \frac{|f_i(z) - f_i'(0) \cdot z|^2 - 2|f_i(z) - f_i'(0) \cdot z| \cdot |f_i'(0) \cdot z|}{||z||^2} \right) \\ & \ge \liminf_{z \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^m \frac{|f_i'(0) \cdot z|^2}{||z||^2} \\ & \quad + \liminf_{z \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^m \frac{|f_i(z) - f_i'(0) \cdot z|^2 - 2|f_i(z) - f_i'(0) \cdot z| \cdot |f_i'(0) \cdot z|}{||z||^2} \\ & = \liminf_{z \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^m \frac{|f_i'(0) \cdot z|^2}{||z||^2}, \end{split}$$

so that

$$(4.1) \qquad \limsup_{z \to 0} \frac{||z||^2}{||F(z)||^2} = \frac{1}{\lim\inf_{z \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^m \frac{|f_i|^2}{||z||^2}} \le \frac{1}{\lim\inf_{z \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^m \frac{|f_i'(0) \cdot z|^2}{||z||^2}}.$$

Equation 4.1 will be bounded above if

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{|f_i'(0) \cdot z|^2}{||z||^2} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left| f_i'(0) \cdot \frac{z}{||z||} \right|^2$$

is bounded away from zero in a neighborhood of the origin, which occurs if and only if the kernel of the complex Jacobian is zero.

So for any competitor $u \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega, 0)$, in a neighborhood of the origin

$$u(z) \le \log ||z|| + c(u)$$

$$= \log ||F(z)|| + \log \frac{||z||}{||F(z)||} + c(u)$$

$$\le \log ||F(z)|| + c'(u).$$

We were assuming that w was the origin, but this argument would work for any $w \in \Omega$. So if we have a function

$$u \in \bigcap_{\{w:||F(w)||=0\}} \mathcal{K}(\Omega, w),$$

then $u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)$, i.e. u is also a candidate for the generalized Green function, U(z) on Ω .

Another case with a simple proof is the case where F is a homogeneous polynomial.

Theorem IV.3. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n that includes the origin, and let $F = (f_1, ..., f_m)$ be a polynomial function where f_i are all homogeneous polynomials of the same degree, d, and which have common zero only at the origin. Then $U(z) = d \cdot g_{\Omega}(z, 0)$, where $g_{\Omega}(z, 0)$ is the usual pluricomplex Green function with pole at the origin.

Proof. We can scale the domain to assume that it contains the unit ball. Let $M = \max\{||F(z)||: ||z|| = 1\}$ and let $m = \min\{||F(z)||: ||z|| = 1\}$. Note that by assumption $m \neq 0$. By homogeneity when $z \neq 0$

$$F(z) = ||z||^d F(z/||z||),$$

so that

$$m||z||^d \le ||F(z)|| \le M||z||^d$$
.

Thus in a neighborhood of the origin any candidadate $u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)$ satisfies

$$u(z) \le \log ||F(z)|| + c(u)$$

$$\le d \log ||z|| + \log M + c(u),$$

so that $\frac{1}{d}u \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega,0)$, i.e. it is a candidate for the usual pluricomplex Green function. Furthermore, given a candidate $u' \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega,0)$ we have that

$$du'(z) \le d \log ||z|| + d \cdot c(u')$$

$$\le d \log ||z|| + \log m - \log m + d \cdot c(u')$$

$$\le \log ||F(z)|| + C'(u'),$$

so that $du' \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)$.

4.2 A Lelong Type Number

In this section our motivating question to see under what conditions the generalized Green function can be compared to a multiple of the usual pluricomplex Green

function.

The Lelong number is a number associated to a singularity of a plurisubharmonic function, which measures in some sense the strength of the singularity.

Definition IV.4 (Lelong Number). Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let ϕ be a plurisub-harmonic function on Ω . Let w be a singularity of ϕ , i.e. a point in Ω so that $\phi(w) = -\infty$. The Lelong number of ϕ at w is given by

$$\nu^{L}(\phi) = \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{\sup_{B(w,r)} \phi}{\log r}.$$

We will define another number associated to a plurisubharmonic function, motivated by the Lelong number but tailored to our particular situation. We will call this the Green Lelong number because of Theorem IV.6.

Definition IV.5 (Green Lelong Number). Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let ϕ be a plurisubharmonic function on Ω . Let w be a singular point of ϕ . Then we define the Green-Lelong number to be

$$\nu_w^{GL}(\phi) = \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{\inf_{\partial B(0,r)} \phi}{\log r},$$

if such a limit exists.

If there is no chance of confusion we will drop the index w on the Green Lelong number and just say $\nu^{GL}(\phi)$.

Theorem IV.6. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $F: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^m$ be holomorphic. Suppose that the Green-Lelong numbers exist and are finite at each point w where ||F(w)|| = 0, and that for each w there is a number $\epsilon(w) > 0$ such that there exists a function u satisfying $\frac{1}{\nu_w^{GL}(\log ||F||) + \epsilon(w)} \cdot u(z) \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega, w)$ for each w, with u independent of w. Then $u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)$. In particular if ||F|| has a single zero, then $\nu^{GL}(\log ||F||) \cdot g_{\Omega}(z, w) \leq U(z)$.

Proof. Let us start with the case of a single isolated zero w = 0. Since we are assuming $\nu^{GL}(\log ||F||) > 0$, the limit in the Green Lelong number exists. Given $\epsilon > 0$ we can find $r^*(\epsilon)$ so that for all $r < r^*(\epsilon)$, on $\partial B(0, r)$,

$$\frac{\inf_{\partial B(0,r)} \log ||F||}{\log r} - \epsilon \le \nu^{GL}(\log ||F||),$$

so that for $||z|| = r < r^*(\epsilon)$

$$\begin{split} \nu^{GL}(\log||F||) \cdot \log||z|| &= \nu^{GL}(\log||F||) \cdot \log r \\ &\leq \inf_{\partial B(0,r)} \log||F|| - \epsilon \log r, \\ &\leq \log||F(z)|| - \epsilon \log r, \\ &= \log||F(z)|| - \epsilon \log||z||, \end{split}$$

so that for $||z|| < r^*(\epsilon)$

$$(\nu^{GL}(\log||F||) + \epsilon)\log||z|| \le \log||F(z)||.$$

This means that if $\frac{1}{\nu^{GL}(\log||F||)+\epsilon}u \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega,0)$ then $u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega,F)$. Thus

$$U(z) = \sup_{u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)} u(z)$$

$$\geq \sup_{\frac{1}{\nu^{GL}(\log||F||) + \epsilon}} u(z)$$

$$= \sup_{v \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega, 0)} (\nu^{GL}(\log||F||) + \epsilon)v(z)$$

$$= (\nu^{GL}(\log||F||) + \epsilon)g_{\Omega}(z, 0).$$

Letting $\epsilon \to 0$ we get the result in the case of a single zero.

In the case of more zeros, at each zero w we can work out the inequality given by the the Green Lelong number at w. Following an argument analogous to the case of a signle zero, given $\epsilon(w) > 0$ we can find a neighborhood N(w) of w where

$$(\nu_w^{GL}(\log ||F||) + \epsilon(w)) \log ||z - w|| \le \log ||F(z)||.$$

The result now follows.

Now we will work out an example where one can calculate the Green Lelong number explicitly.

Example IV.7. Let $F = (z, z + w^2)$ be defined on the unit ball in \mathbb{C}^2 . Then the only zero of F is at the origin.

First we calculate the Lelong number of $\log ||F||$, which turns out to be 1. By picking a particular point, z = r and w = 0, we know that the supremum lies above that and we get the following inequality.

$$\limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\sup_{B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(|z|^2 + |z + w^2|^2)}{\log r}$$

$$\geq \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\frac{1}{2} \log(2r^2)}{\log r}$$

$$= 1$$

Notice that the same inequalities hold for \liminf . On the other hand using the fact that |z| and |w| are each necessarily less than r, we can show the other inequality.

$$\begin{split} &\limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\sup_{B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(|z|^2 + |z + w^2|^2)}{\log r} \\ &= \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\sup_{B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(2|z|^2 + |w|^4 + z\overline{w}^2 + w^2\overline{z})}{\log r} \\ &= \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\sup_{B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(2|z|^2 + (r^2 - |z|^2)^2 + 2\text{Re}(w^2\overline{z}))}{\log r} \\ &= \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\sup_{B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(2(1 - r^2)|z|^2 + r^4 + |z|^4 + 2\text{Re}(w^2\overline{z}))}{\log r} \\ &\leq \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\frac{1}{2} \log(2r^2 + 2r^3)}{\log r} \\ &= \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\log(r^2) + \log(2 + 2r)}{2 \log r} \\ &= 1 \end{split}$$

Again, the same inequalities hold for \liminf , so in fact the \liminf exists and is 1. Next we will calculate the Green Lelong number of $\log ||F||$, which turns out to be two. By picking a particular point: z=0 and w=r, we know that the infimum will lie below that and we get the following inequality.

$$\limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\inf_{\partial B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(|z|^2 + |z + w^2|^2)}{\log r}$$

$$\leq \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\frac{1}{2} \log(r^4)}{\log r}$$

$$= 2$$

Again, the same inequality holds with \liminf . On the other hand on the sphere ||(z,w)|| = r, we get the following inequalities. The first inequality below follows from the fact that $2\text{Re}(\mathbf{w}^2\mathbf{z}) \geq -2(\mathbf{r}^2-|\mathbf{z}|^2)|\mathbf{z}|$ and the second inequality follows from dropping some positive terms.

$$\begin{split} & \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\inf_{\partial B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(|z|^2 + |z + w^2|^2)}{\log r} \\ &= \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\inf_{\partial B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(2|z|^2 + |w|^4 + z\overline{w}^2 + w^2\overline{z})}{\log r} \\ &= \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\inf_{\partial B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(2|z|^2 + (r^2 - |z|^2)^2 + 2\text{Re}(w^2\overline{z}))}{\log r} \\ &= \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\inf_{\partial B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(2(1 - r^2)|z|^2 + r^4 + |z|^4 + 2\text{Re}(w^2\overline{z}))}{\log r} \\ &\geq \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\inf_{\partial B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(2(1 - r^2)|z|^2 + r^4 + |z|^4 - 2(r^2 - |z|^2)|z|)}{\log r} \\ &= \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\inf_{\partial B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(2(1 - r^2)|z|^2 + r^4 + |z|^4 - 2(r^2 - |z|^2)|z|)}{\log r} \\ &\geq \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\inf_{\partial B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(2(1 - r^2)|z|^2 - 2r^2|z| + r^4)}{\log r} \\ &\geq \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\inf_{\partial B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(2(1 - r^2)|z|^2 - 2r^2|z| + r^4)}{\log r} \end{split}$$

Notice that the equation $f(x)=2(1-r^2)x^2-2r^2x$ has critical point at x^* when $4(1-r^2)x^*-2r^2=0$, or

$$x^* = \frac{r^2}{2(1 - r^2)},$$

and $f(x^*)$ takes the value

$$f(x^*) = \frac{2(1-r^2)r^4}{4(1-r^2)^2} - \frac{2r^4}{2(1-r^2)} = \frac{r^4}{2(1-r^2)} - \frac{2r^4}{2(1-r^2)} = \frac{-r^4}{2(1-r^2)},$$

which is negative for r small enough. We claim that this is a minimum of f(x): the second derivative is $4(1-r^2)$ which is positive; and at the endpoints we have f(0) = 0, and for f(r) we calculate

$$2(1-r^2)r^2 - 2r^4 = 2r^2 - 4r^4 = 2r^2(1-2r^2).$$

which is positive for r small enough. So we get

$$\limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\inf_{\partial B(0,r)} \frac{1}{2} \log(|z|^2 + |z + w^2|^2)}{\log r}$$

$$\geq \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\frac{1}{2} \log \left(\frac{-r^4}{2(1-r^2)} + r^4\right)}{\log r}$$

$$= \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\frac{1}{2} \log \left(\frac{(1-2r^2)r^4}{2(1-r^2)}\right)}{\log r}$$

$$= \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\frac{1}{2} (\log(1-2r^2) + \log r^4 - \log(2-2r^2))}{\log r}$$

$$= 2$$

Again, the same inequalities hold with \liminf , so the \liminf and is 2.

4.3 Behavior under Holomorphic Maps

Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $F:\Omega\to\mathbb{C}^m$ be holomorphic. Consider a second domain Ω' in \mathbb{C}^l and a holomorphic function $h:\Omega'\to\Omega$. We would like to compare the generalized Green function on Ω associated to the function F, call this U^F_{Ω} , to the generalized Green function on Ω' associated to the function $F\circ h$, call this $U^{F\circ h}_{\Omega'}$.

Let $u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)$ be a candidate function on Ω . We would like to show that $u \circ h$ is a candiate function on Ω' , i.e. $u \circ h \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega', F \circ h)$. It is clear that $u \circ h$ is negative and plurisubharmonic on Ω' , so all we need to do is check its behavior near singular points. Let $w \in \Omega'$ be a point where ||F(h(w))|| = 0. We know that in a neighborhood N of h(w) in Ω

$$u(z) \le \log ||F(z)|| + c(u).$$

Let $N' = h^{-1}(N)$. Then N' is an open set in Ω' that contains w. Since for each $z' \in N'$ we know that $h(z') \in N$, we get that for $z' \in N'$

$$u(h(z')) \le \log ||F(h(z'))|| + c(u)$$

Thus $u \circ h \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega', F \circ h)$.

Lemma IV.8. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $F: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^m$ be a holomorphic function on Ω . Let Ω' in \mathbb{C}^l be a second domain and let $h: \Omega' \to \Omega$ be a holomorphic function. Then the generalized Green function related to F on Ω is related to the generalized Green function related to $F \circ h$ on Ω' by

$$U_{\Omega'}^{F \circ h}(z') \ge U_{\Omega}^F(h(z')).$$

for $z' \in \Omega'$.

Proof. In the argument above, we have shown that if $u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)$ then $u \circ h \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F \circ h)$. Thus

$$U_{\Omega'}(z') \ge \sup_{u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)} u \circ h(z') = U_{\Omega}(h(z')).$$

In the case of a biholomorphism, we get equality in the lemma above.

Corollary IV.9. Let Ω and Ω' be domains in \mathbb{C}^n and let $B: \Omega' \to \Omega$ be a biholomorphism. Let $F: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^m$ be a holomorphic function. Then the generalized Green functions related to $F \circ B$ on Ω' and F on Ω are related by

$$U_{\Omega'}^{F \circ B}(z') = U_{\Omega}^{F}(B(z')).$$

for $z' \in \Omega'$.

Proof. We immediately get that

$$U_{\Omega'}^{F \circ B}(z') \ge U_{\Omega}^{F}(B(z')).$$

Now if we consider $B^{-1}:\Omega\to\Omega'$ together with the function $F\circ B$ on Ω' we get

$$U_{\Omega}^{F \circ B \circ B^{-1}}(z) \ge U_{\Omega'}^{F \circ B}(B^{-1}(z)).$$

for $z \in \Omega$. Setting z = B(z') we get the desired result.

If we specialize to the case where h = i, the inclusion map, we get the following result that we will make use of in this thesis.

Corollary IV.10. Let $\Omega' \subset \Omega$ be domains in \mathbb{C}^n and let $i : \Omega' \to \Omega$ be the inclusion map. Let $F : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^m$ be a holomorphic function. Then the generalized Green functions related to F on Ω' and Ω are related by

$$U_{\Omega'}(z') \geq U_{\Omega}(z').$$

for $z' \in \Omega'$.

Using this corollary about the behavior of the generalized Green function under inclusion, we will now prove the key lemma for our main result in the special case of one dimension. We will start by defining the domain where we will ultimately be able to calculate the Taylor Green function in both one and higher dimensions.

Definition IV.11 (The domain $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$). Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ and let $F: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^n$ be holomorphic with $w \in \Omega$ being a point where ||F(w)|| = 0. We use the notation $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ to denote the connected component containing w of the open set

$$\{z \in \Omega : ||F(z)|| < \epsilon\}$$
.

Now we will work with this domain in one dimension, and in sections 4.4 and 4.5 we will work with this domain in higher dimensions.

Theorem IV.12. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C} and let $f:\Omega\to\mathbb{C}$ be holomorphic with isolated zeros. Then $U(z)\leq \log |f|+c(w)$ near points w where f(w)=0.

Proof. We claim that we can pick ϵ small enough so that $B_{\epsilon}(w) \subset\subset \Omega$ and so that w is the only zero of f in $B_{\epsilon}(w)$. Take a Euclidean ball of small radius r around w which is compactly contained in Ω and whose closure contains no zeros of f other than w. If for all ϵ , $B_{\epsilon}(w)$ is not contained in this Euclidean ball then by connectedness of $B_{\epsilon}(w)$ we can find a point of length equal to r in $B_{\epsilon}(w)$, which we will call z_{ϵ} . The sequence $z_{1/n}$ will have a convergent subsequence, converging to z of length r, and by continuity f(z) = 0, which violates our assumption that the closure of the Euclidean ball had no zeros other than w. Consider now instead the domain $B = B_{\epsilon}(w)$. We claim that $U_B = \log |f/\epsilon|$. Suppose that there exists a candidate function u_B^* that is larger than $\log |f/\epsilon|$ at some point. By taking $\max\{u_B^*, \log |f/\epsilon|\}$, we may assume $u_B^* \geq \log |f/\epsilon|$. Then u_B^* extends continuously to the boundary and is zero there. We know that $\log |f|$ is harmonic off of w and $u_B^* - \log |f|$ is bounded above in a neighborhood of w, so that $u_B^* - \log |f/\epsilon|$ extends to be subharmonic on B. Then $u_B^* - \log |f/\epsilon| \equiv 0$ by the maximum principle because it is nonnegative and zero on the boundary, which shows that $U_B = \log |f/\epsilon|$. Since $U_\Omega \leq U_B$ the result follows.

4.4 Plurisubharmonicity with Isolated Zeros using Resolution of Singularities

In this section we will study the generalized Green function U defined in definition II.2 in a case that is more complicated than the examples from the previous chapter.

We present our first proof of Theorem II.3, which follows the outline of the proof in the case of the pluricomplex Green function. In this case however, we must work with varieties and ultimately use Resolution of Singularities to get the result.

Recall the definition of the domain $B_{\epsilon}(w)$ from definition IV.11.

Lemma IV.13. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ and let $F : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^n$ be holomorphic with isolated zeros, and let $w \in \Omega$ be such that ||F(w)|| = 0. For small enough ϵ we get the following three properties:

- 1. $B_{\epsilon}^{F}(w)$ contains no zeros of F other than w.
- 2. $B_{\epsilon}^F(w) \subset\subset \Omega$.
- 3. The sets $\{E^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$, defined by

$$E^n = \{||F(z)|| < \epsilon - 1/n\} \cap B_{\epsilon}^F(w),$$

are open and their closures, $\{\overline{E^n}\}$, give a compact exhaustion of $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$. We also get the slightly stronger result that $\overline{E^n} \subset E^{n_1}$ as opposed to the usual $\overline{E^n}$ being a subset of the interior of $\overline{E^{n+1}}$. Also,

$$\partial E^n \subset \{||F(z)|| = \epsilon - 1/n\}.$$

and

$$\partial B_{\epsilon}^{F}(w) \subset \{||F(z)|| = \epsilon\}.$$

Proof. (1) Since F has isolated zeros there is some euclidean ball around w of radius r, $B_r(w)$, which contains no zeros of F other than w and so that $B_r(w) \subset \Omega$. We claim that for small enough ϵ , $B_{\epsilon}^F(w) \subset B_r(w)$. Suppose that for every $\epsilon > 0$, there is a point $p(\epsilon) \in B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ so that $p(\epsilon) \notin B_r(w)$. Then there is a path $\gamma_{p(\epsilon)}$ from w to $p(\epsilon)$ so that $\gamma_{p(\epsilon)} \subset B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ since $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ is path connected. Since $||\gamma_{p(\epsilon)}(0)|| = 0$, $||\gamma_{p(\epsilon)}(1)|| \geq r$, and $||\gamma_{p(\epsilon)}||$ is continuous, there is some $t^* \in (0,1)$ such that $||\gamma_{p(\epsilon)}(t^*)|| = r/2$. Consider $\epsilon = 1/n$. Then since $B_{r/2}(w)$ is compact, the sequence $\gamma_{p(1/n)}(t^*)$ has a subsequence converging to the point $\gamma^* \in B_{r/2}(w)$. Since $||F(\gamma_{p(1/n)}(t^*))|| < 1/n$ and F is continuous, $||F(\gamma^*)|| = 0$. But we assumed that F has no zeros in $B_r(w)$ other than w, and $||\gamma^* - w|| = r/2$. Thus there exists $\epsilon > 0$ so that $B_{\epsilon}^F(w) \subset B_r(w)$.

- (2) Let $B_r(w)$ be defined as above. Since $B_r(w) \subset\subset \Omega$, we get that $B_{\epsilon}^F(w) \subset\subset \Omega$ as well.
 - (3) It is clear from the definition, since ||F|| is continuous, that E^n is open. By saying that $\{\overline{E^n}\}$ are a compact exhaustion of $B^F_{\epsilon}(w)$ we mean that
 - 1. $\overline{E^n}$ are compact in $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$
 - 2. $\overline{E^n}$ is contained in the interior of $\overline{E^{n+1}}$
 - 3. and $\bigcup_n \overline{E^n} = B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$.

To show (1), let us first consider $\overline{E^n}$ to be the closure of E^n in \mathbb{C}^n , rather than Ω . We will later show that both closures are the same. Clearly in this sense $\overline{E^n} \subset \overline{B^F_{\epsilon}(w)}$, which is contained in Ω by (2). Now F is defined on all of Ω , so in particular it is continuous across the boundary of $B^F_{\epsilon}(w)$. We claim that

(4.2)
$$\partial B_{\epsilon}^{F}(w) \subset \{||F(z)|| = \epsilon\}.$$

If $b \in \partial B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ then there is a sequence $b_i \to b$ with $b_i \in B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$. In particular $||F(b_i)|| < \epsilon$, so $||F(b)|| \le \epsilon$ by continuity of ||F||. On the other hand, if $||F(b)|| < \epsilon$ then write $||F(b)|| = \epsilon - c$ with c > 0. The set $\{||F(z)|| < \epsilon - c/2\}$ is open and contains b, meaning that on some ball N_c centered at b, $||F(z)|| < \epsilon - c/2$. Since $b \in \partial B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$, $N_c \cap B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ is nonempty. But then $N_c \subset B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ since N_c is connected, intersects $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$, and $||F|| < \epsilon$ on N_c . This contradicts the assumption that b is in the boundary of $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$, so it is impossible for ||F(b)|| to be strictly smaller than ϵ .

We would like to use equation (4.2) to show that $\overline{E^n} \subset B^F_{\epsilon}(w)$. For every point $a \in \partial E^n$ there is a sequence $a_i \to a$ with $a_i \in E^n$. In particular, $||F(a)|| \le \epsilon - 1/n$ by continuity of ||F||. This means that $a \notin \partial B^F_{\epsilon}(w)$, so that $a \in B^F_{\epsilon}(w)$ since $\overline{E^n} \subset \overline{B^F_{\epsilon}(w)}$. Thus $\overline{E^n} \subset B^F_{\epsilon}(w)$. By part (2) $B^F_{\epsilon}(w) \subset \Omega$, so $\overline{E^n}$ is bounded, and thus compact, in \mathbb{C}^n .

It follows that $\overline{E^n}$ is compact in $B^F_{\epsilon}(w)$ since it is contained in $B^F_{\epsilon}(w)$, and any cover of open sets in $B^F_{\epsilon}(w)$ is a cover of open sets in \mathbb{C}^n as well.

Note that while we initially were using the notation $\overline{E^n}$ to be the closure of E^n in \mathbb{C}^n , now that we showed $\overline{E^n} \subset B^F_{\epsilon}(w)$ it is equivalent to consider $\overline{E^n}$ to be the closure of E^n in $B^F_{\epsilon}(w)$.

To show (2), we claim that

$$\partial E^n \subset \{||F(z)|| = \epsilon - 1/n\}.$$

Using the same notation as above, we know that $||F(a)|| \le \epsilon - 1/n$. Since $a \in B_{\epsilon}^{F}(w)$, if $||F(a)|| < \epsilon - 1/n$ then $a \in E^{n}$ so (4.3) follows. This means that $\overline{E^{n}} \subset$

 E^{n+1} , and E^{n+1} is open so it is a subset of the interior of $\overline{E^{n+1}}$.

For condition (3), clearly $\cup_n E^n = B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$.

Lemma IV.14. Let $K \subset B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ be compact, and let $V \subset B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ be a complex analytic variety. Then $K \cap V$ is compact in V.

Proof. The topology on V is the subspace topology coming from $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$. Let $\{U_i\}_{i\in I}$ be open sets in V whose union covers $K\cap V$. Then there are open sets $U_i'\subset B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ so that $U_i'\cap V=U_i$. We would like ot add more open sets to form a cover of K. We know that V is closed in $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ since it is the intersection of the zero sets of finitely many holomorphic functions. For each point $x\in K\setminus V$ pick a neighborhood \mathcal{U}_x so that $\mathcal{U}_x\subset B_{\epsilon}^F(w)\setminus V$. Then

$$\{U_i'\}_{i\in I}\cup\{\mathcal{U}_x\}_{x\in K\setminus V}$$

is an open cover of K. Since K is compact there is a finite subcover which after reindexing includes $\{U'_1, ..., U'_n\}$ and no other U'_i . Then $\{U_1, ..., U_n\}$ covers $K \cap V$ since $\mathcal{U}_x \cap V = \emptyset$ for all $x \in K \setminus V$.

For a reference for the following lemma about extending plurisubharmonic functions across closed negative infinity sets of plurisubharmonic functions, see [23][p. 71].

Lemma IV.15. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be an open subset, and let F be a closed subset of Ω of the form $F = \{z \in \Omega : v(z) = -\infty\}$, where v is plurisubharmonic on Ω . If u is plurisubharmonic on $\Omega \setminus F$ and u is bounded above, then the function \tilde{u} defined by

$$\tilde{u}(z) = \begin{cases} u(z) & : z \in \Omega \setminus F \\ \limsup_{y \to z, y \notin F} u(y) & : z \in F \end{cases}$$

is plurisubharmonic on Ω . If Ω is connected, then so is $\Omega \setminus F$.

We will use the following elementary lemma in the course of proving Theorem IV.19. A proof can be found in [28][p. 97].

Lemma IV.16. Let A be a subset of a topological space X; let A' be the set of all limit points of A, where $x \in X$ is a limit point of A if every neighborhood of x intersects A in some point other than x itself. Then $\overline{A} = A \cup A'$, where \overline{A} is the intersection of all closed sets containing A.

We will use the following two easy lemmas in the course of proving Theorem IV.19.

Lemma IV.17. Let $S_1 \subset S_2 \subset M$, where M is a topological manifold, and let S_2 have the subspace topology given by M. Notice if $S_2 \subset \Omega$ where Ω is a domain in \mathbb{C}^n , then S_2 having the subspace topology given by Ω is the same as S_2 having the subspace topology given by \mathbb{C}^n . Let $\overline{S_1}$ be the closure of S_1 in S_2 , i.e. the smallest closed set in S_2 containing S_1 , which is the intersection of all closed sets in S_2 which contain S_1 . Then if $x \in \overline{S_1}$ there exist $x_i \in S_1$ so that $x_i \to x$.

Proof. If not, there exists an open set U containing x which is disjoint from S_1 . Let $N = U|_{S_2}$, so that N is open in S_2 and N^c , the complement of N in S_2 , is closed in S_2 . Now $S_1 \subset N^c$, so we have that $S_1 \subset N' := N^c \cap \overline{S_1}$. But then N' is closed in S_2 , contains S_1 and is strictly smaller than $\overline{S_1}$ since it does not contain x. This contradicts the assumption that $\overline{S_1}$ is the smallest closed set in S_2 containing S_1 . So every ball centered at $x \in \overline{S_1}$ must contain a point from S_1 .

Lemma IV.18. Let $S_1 \subset S_2 \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be sets so that S_2 is given the subspace topology from \mathbb{C}^n and S_1 is closed in S_2 . Let $x_i \subset S_1$ and $x \in S_2$ be such that $x_i \to x$. Then $x \in S_1$.

Proof. If $x \notin S_1$, there would be an open set $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ containing x so that $U \cap S_1 = \emptyset$. But every such U contains the tail end of the sequence x_i .

For an explanation of the domain $B_{\epsilon}^{F}(w)$, see definition IV.11.

Theorem IV.19. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ and let $F: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^n$ be holomorphic with an isolated zero at w. Then for ϵ small enough, $U_{B_{\epsilon}^F(w)} = \log ||F(z)/\epsilon||$.

Proof. Our strategy will be to show that $U_{B_{\epsilon}^{F}(w)} = \log ||F(z)/\epsilon||$ by restricting to varieties on which $-\log ||F||$ is subharmonic. Along these varieties we will be able to apply the maximum principle to $U_{B_{\epsilon}^{F}(w)} - \log ||F/\epsilon||$ to show that $U_{B_{\epsilon}^{F}(w)} \leq \log ||F/\epsilon||$. Since $\log ||F/\epsilon||$ is itself a candidate function for $U_{B_{\epsilon}^{F}(w)}$, this inequality will be enough to prove the result.

Pick $\epsilon > 0$ as in Lemma IV.13. Let $p \in B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ with $p \neq w$, so that $f_i(p) \neq 0$ for some $1 \leq i \leq n$. We can renumber so that $f_1(p) \neq 0$. We define a complex analytic variety V_p passing through p as follows:

$$V_p = B_{\epsilon}^F(w) \cap \bigcap_{i=2}^n \left\{ \frac{f_i(p)}{f_1(p)} f_1 = f_i \right\}.$$

Notice that V_p is dimension at least one since F maps into \mathbb{C}^n , and is nonempty because it contains at least p and w. Also, every point in Ω is in such a subvariety because if $p \neq w$ then $p \in V_p$, whereas w is in every such subvariety.

The purpose of defining V_p in this way is so that on V_p we can write F in terms of f_1 . This leads us to the equation

(4.4)
$$\log ||F/\epsilon|| = \log |f_1/\epsilon| + c(V_p) \text{ on } V_p,$$

where

$$c(V_p) = \log \sqrt{1 + \sum_{i=2}^{n} \left| \frac{f_i(p)}{f_1(p)} \right|^2}.$$

Actually the variety V_p is not so dependent on the point p in the sense that if $p' \in V_p$ with $p' \neq w$, then $V_p = V_{p'}$. The first point to note is that, according to the defining equations for V_p , if $f_1(p') = 0$ then ||F(p')|| would be zero, which is impossible. Plugging p' into the defining equations for V_p and keeping in mind that $f_1(p') \neq 0$ shows that for each i = 2, ...n we have

$$\frac{f_i(p)}{f_1(p)} = \frac{f_i(p')}{f_1(p')}.$$

Thus the defining equations for V_p and $V_{p'}$ are identical. Also, the constant $c(V_p)$ only depends on the variety V_p and not the point p used to define it, as the notation suggests. Finally, notice that it makes no sense to talk about V_w since $w \in V_p$ for every $p \in B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$.

We will now work on the desingularization manifold for V_p , see Theorem II.7. Our notation for the resolution of singularities for V_p will be $\pi: \tilde{V}_p \to V_p$. Let $u \in T(\Omega, F)$ be a candidate for $U_{B_{\epsilon}^F(w)}$, as defined in the introduction, and consider the function h on \tilde{V}_p defined by

$$(4.5) h := u \circ \pi - \log ||F \circ \pi/\epsilon||$$

$$(4.6) = u \circ \pi - \log|f_1 \circ \pi/\epsilon| - c(V_p).$$

The function u is plurisubharmonic on $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ and π is holomorphic on \tilde{V}_p , so $u \circ \pi$ is plurisubharmonic on \tilde{V}_p . On \tilde{V}_p , $\log |f_1/\epsilon|$ is harmonic or pluriharmonic away from $\pi^{-1}(w)$ since f_1 maps into \mathbb{C} . Thus, h is plurisubharmonic away from $\pi^{-1}(w)$. If we show that h is bounded above, since the zero set of a holomorphic function is closed, we can use Lemma IV.15 locally on \tilde{V}_p to show that h extends to be be subharmonic or plurisubharmonic on \tilde{V}_p . Let N(w) be a neighborhood of w in $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ on which $u - \log ||F||$ is bounded above. Then $\tilde{N} := \pi^{-1}(N(w))$ is open in \tilde{V}_p and contains $\pi^{-1}(w)$, and h is bounded above on \tilde{N} . Suppose there is a sequence of points $t_i \in \tilde{V}_p \setminus \tilde{N}$ so that $F(\pi(t_i)) \to 0$. Since $\overline{B_{\epsilon}^F(w)}$ is compact, a subsequence $\pi(t_{i_j})$ converges to a point in $\overline{B_{\epsilon}^F(w)}$. By Lemma IV.13 parts (1) and (3), w is the only zero of F in Ω , $\pi(t_{i_j})$ converges to w. However, then t_{i_j} are arbitrarily close to the set $\pi^{-1}(w)$, but this contradicts the assumption that $t_i \in \tilde{V}_p \setminus \tilde{N}$. Thus h is bounded above on \tilde{V}_p and so extends to be plurisubharmonic.

Thus the maximum principle holds for h on \tilde{V}_p for each p. In order to finish the proof of Theorem IV.19 we need to construct a compact exhaustion of \tilde{V}_p , so that the values of h on the boundary of these compact sets approach zero. Then we will be able to apply the maximum principle to get that $u \circ \pi \leq -\log||F \circ \pi/\epsilon||$ on \tilde{V}_p . Since π is surjective onto V_p , and since the V_p 's cover $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$, this will mean that $u \leq \log||F/\epsilon||$ on $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$.

By Lemma IV.13 the sets E^n are open and $\{\overline{E^n}\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a compact exhaustion of $B^F_\epsilon(w)$. Let

$$E_p^n = E^n \cap V_p.$$

We would like to show that the sets E_p^n are open in V_p and that $\{\overline{E_p^n}\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a compact exhaustion of V_p . Notice here that $\overline{E_p^n}$ is the closure of E_p^n in V_p . It is clear

that E_p^n are open in V_p since V_p has the subspace topology from $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ and E^n is open in $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$. To show that a family of sets $\{K_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a compact exhaustion of a domain, manifold, or variety X, we need to show

- 1. K_n are compact in X,
- 2. K_n are contained in the interior of $\overline{K_{n+1}}$,
- 3. and $\bigcup_n K_n = X$.

To show (1) for $K_n = \overline{E_p^n}$ in $X = V_p$, we claim that

$$\overline{E_p^n} \subset \overline{E^n} \cap V_p.$$

First, we claim that we can apply Lemma IV.16 with $A=E_p^n$ and $X=V_p$ to show that if $x\in \overline{E_p^n}$ then there exist $x_i\in E_p^n$ with $x_i\to x$. If $x\in E_p^n$ then this is clear because we can set $x_i=x$ for all i. If $x\notin E_p^n$ then by Lemma IV.16, x is a limit point of E_p^n in V_p . Thus every neighborhood of x intersects E_p^n in some point other than x itself. Since V_p 's topology is the subspace topology from \mathbb{C}^n , neighborhoods are given by euclidean balls intersected with V_p , so that inside each ball of radius 1/i centered at x we can find a point in E_p^n . These points will be x_i . Since $x_i\in E_p^n$, $x_i\in E^n$ as well. Next we will apply Lemma IV.16 with $A=E^n$ and $X=B_\epsilon^F(w)$ to show that $x\in \overline{E^n}$. Since $x\in V_p$, $x\in B_\epsilon^F(w)$ as well. Furthermore, x is a limit point of E^n since $x_i\in E^n$. It follows that $x\in \overline{E^n}$. Finally, we can verify our original claim because Lemma 2 shows that $\overline{E_p^n}$, being a closed subset of the compact set $\overline{E^n}\cap V_p$, is compact in V_p .

To show (2) for $K_n = \overline{E_p^n}$ in $X = V_p$, notice the following:

$$\overline{E_n^p} \subset (\overline{E^n} \cap V_p) \subset (E^{n+1} \cap V_p) = E_p^{n+1}.$$

Since E_p^{n+1} is open in V_p , it is a subset of the interior of $\overline{E_p^{n+1}} = \overline{E^{n+1} \cap V_p}$, so (2) follows.

To show (3) for $K_n = \overline{E_p^n}$ in $X = V_p$, let $x \in V_p$. Thus $x \in B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$, so $x \in \overline{E^n}$ for some n, which is contained in E^{n+1} by Lemma IV.13. This means that $x \in E_p^{n+1}$, so in particular $x \in U_n E_p^n$, which is contained in $U_n \overline{E_p^n}$. The result $V_p \subset U_n \overline{E_p^n}$ follows.

Now we want to pull $\{\overline{E_p^n}\}$ back to a compact exhaustion on $\tilde{V_p}$. Consider the sets

(4.7)
$$\tilde{E}_p^n = \pi^{-1}(E_p^n).$$

We would like to show that \tilde{E}_p^n are open and that $\left\{\overline{\tilde{E}_p^n}\right\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a compact exhaustion of \tilde{V}_p , where again we need to verify properties (1) - (3) for $K_n = \tilde{E}_p^n$ and $X = \tilde{V}_p$. It is clear that \tilde{E}_p^n are open because $\pi: \tilde{V}_p \to V_p$ is continuous and E_p^n are open in V_p .

To show (1) we claim that

$$(4.8) \overline{\widetilde{E_p^n}} \subset \pi^{-1}(\overline{E_p^n}).$$

Take $x \in \overline{E_p^n}$. By Lemma IV.17, there exist $x_i \in \widetilde{E_p^n}$ so that $x_i \to x$. Then $\pi(x_i) \in E_p^n$ and by continuity of π and $\pi(x_i) \to \pi(x)$. By Lemma IV.18 this means $\pi(x) \in \overline{E_p^n}$. Now since π is proper by equation (4.8) we see that the sets $\overline{\tilde{E_p^n}}$ are closed subsets of compacts sets and thus also compact, so (1) holds.

To show (2), we can expand equation (4.8) as follows:

(4.9)
$$\overline{\widetilde{E_p^n}} \subset \pi^{-1}(\overline{E_p^n}) \subset \pi^{-1}(E_p^{n+1}),$$

which is in turn a subset of the interior of $\overline{\pi^{-1}(E_p^{n+1})} = \overline{E_p^{\tilde{n}+1}}$.

To show (3), let $x \in \tilde{V}_p$. Then $\pi(x) \in V_p$, so for some n

$$\pi(x) \in \overline{E_p^n} \subset E_p^{n+1},$$

and thus

$$x \in \pi^{-1}(E_p^{n+1}) = E_p^{\tilde{n}+1} \subset \overline{E_p^{\tilde{n}+1}}.$$

So $\left\{\overline{\tilde{E}_p^n}\right\}$ is indeed a compact exhaustion of \tilde{V}_p .

Next we would like to examine how the function h, which was defined earlier in this proof, behaves on the boundary of $\tilde{E_p}^n$. Combining equations 4.7 and 4.8 shows that

$$\pi(\partial \tilde{E_p^n}) \subset \partial(E_p^n).$$

Since $\overline{E_p^n} \subset \overline{E^n}$, we claim it follows from the above equation that that

$$\pi(\partial \tilde{E}_n^n) \subset \partial(E^n).$$

This is because by Lemma IV.17 if $b \in \partial E_p^n$ then there exist $b_i \in E_p^n$ so that $b_i \to b$. Since $b_i \in E^n$, we have that $b \in \overline{E^n}$ by Lemma IV.18. On the other hand if $b \in E^n$ then since $b \in V_p$ by definition, $b \in E_p^n$.

So by part (3) of Lemma IV.13 we have on $\partial \tilde{E}_p^n$ that

$$(4.10) h \circ \pi \le -\log\left(1 - \frac{1}{n\epsilon}\right).$$

We will argue that every connected component C' of \tilde{E}_p^n has nonempty boundary in \tilde{V}_p . Every such C' is an open set inside a connected component C of \tilde{V}_p . If $C' \neq C$ and if C' has empty boundary, every point in $C \setminus C'$ is surrounded by a neighborhood that does not intersect C'. The union of these neighborhoods would form an open set which together with C' itself would disconnect C. So if C' has empty boundary, then C' = C. This would mean that $\pi(C) \subset E^n$, and $\pi(C)$ is again a variety since π is proper [30]. This means that $\pi(C)$ of V_p is compact, which is impossible [30]. Thus, every C' has nonempty boundary. Recall as well that the dimension of C' is always greater than or equal to one because F maps into \mathbb{C}^n .

We can apply the maximum principle on \tilde{E}_p^n to the function h, because \tilde{E}_p^n is an open subset of \tilde{V}_p and h is plurisubharmonic on \tilde{V}_p . Since $\overline{\tilde{E}_p^n}$ is compact, every sequence has a convergent subsequence, so that if the maximum doesn't occur on the boundary (which exists), we can find a subsequence of points converging to an interior maximum, which is a contradiction. So equation 4.10 holds on all of \tilde{E}_p^n . Since \tilde{E}_p^n is a compact exhaution of \tilde{V}_p , we have that $h \circ \pi \leq 0$ on \tilde{V}_p . Since π is surjective, on V_p we get

$$(4.11) u \le \log||F/\epsilon||.$$

Since V_p cover $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ as we vary p, we have that equation 4.11 holds on $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ as well. Since $\log ||F/\epsilon||$ is a candidate for $U_{B_{\epsilon}^F(w)}$, we get that

$$U_{B_{\epsilon}^{F}(w)} = \log ||F/\epsilon||.$$

Since $\log ||F/\epsilon||$ is its own upper semicontinuous regularization, we also get that

$$U_{B_{\epsilon}^{F}(w)}^{*} = \log ||F/\epsilon||.$$

4.5 Plurisubharmonicity with Isolated Zeros using Monge-Ampère Methods

In this section we will again study the generalized Green function U defined in definition II.2. We present another proof of Theorem II.3, this time using methods developed to study the Monge-Ampère operator.

In this section we will again be studying the domain $B_{\epsilon}(F)$ which we defined earlier in definition IV.11.

Lemma IV.20. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $F: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^n$ be a holomorphic function with the following properties: ||F|| has finitely many zeros, $z_1, ..., z_n$, in Ω ; and ||F|| has a nonzero minimum in a neighborhood of $\partial\Omega$. Then for each candidate $u \in \mathcal{T}(\Omega, F)$, there is a constant such that $u \leq \log ||F|| + c(u)$ in Ω .

Proof. Consider a domain $G \subset \Omega \setminus \{z_1, ..., z_n\}$. Then F has no zeros in G, so that the Monge-Ampère operator applied to $\log ||F||$ is zero there, see for example [4]. This means that u is maximal in G, see [23, p. 131]. Let N_i be a neighborhood of z_i on which $u < \log ||F|| + c_i$ and let N_0 be a neighborhood of $\partial \Omega$ on which $u < \log ||F|| + c_0$. Choose G that $\partial G \subset \bigcup_{i=0}^n N_i$. Then $u \leq \log ||F|| + \max \{c_i : i = 0, ..., n\}$ on ∂G . Since $\log ||F||$ is maximal on G, we get that $u \leq \log ||F|| + c(u)$ on G. Since the constant depends only on u and not on G, the inequality holds in all of $\Omega \setminus \{z_1, ... z_n\}$. But since $z_i \in N_i$ the inequality holds at each z_i as well.

Recall the following two well known theorems regarding approximations of plurisubharmonic functions by smooth functions.

Theorem IV.21 (Fornaess-Narasimhan, [13]). Let $\psi: X \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{-\infty\}$ be a plurisub-harmonic function on a Stein space X. Then there exists a sequence of C^{∞} strongly plurisubharmonic functions $\psi_n: X \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\psi_n \searrow \psi$ pointwise.

This second theorem can be found in Klimek [23, p. 63].

Theorem IV.22. Let Ω be an open subset of \mathbb{C}^n , and let $u \in \mathcal{PSH}(\Omega)$. Define $\Omega_{\epsilon} := \{x \in \Omega : dist(x, \partial\Omega) > \epsilon\}$ and define $\chi_{\epsilon}(x) = \frac{1}{\epsilon^m} \chi(\frac{x}{\epsilon})$. If $\epsilon > 0$ is such that $\Omega_{\epsilon} \neq \emptyset$, then $u * \chi_{\epsilon} \in C^{\infty} \cap \mathcal{PSH}(\Omega_{\epsilon})$. Moreover, $u * \chi_{\epsilon}$ monotonically decreases with decreasing ϵ , and $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} u * \chi_{\epsilon}(z) = u(z)$ for each $z \in \Omega$.

Note the following lemma, which can be found in [23, p. 69].

Lemma IV.23. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, and let ω be a non-empty proper open subset of Ω . If $u \in \mathcal{PSH}(\Omega), \ v \in \mathcal{PSH}(\omega), \ and \ \limsup_{x \to y} v(x) \leq u(y) \ for \ each \ y \in \partial \omega \cap \Omega, \ then$ the formula

$$w = \begin{cases} \max\{u, v\} & : t \in \omega \\ u & : t \in \Omega \setminus \omega \end{cases}$$

defines a plurisubharmonic function in Ω .

Proof. By the assumption $\limsup_{x\to y} v(x) \leq u(y)$, w is upper semicontinuous in Ω . Off of $\partial \omega$, w automatically satisfies the subaveraging property on complex lines. So take $y \in \partial \omega$. Then on any complex line through y with $\Delta(y,r)$ the disk of radius r centered at y in that line,

$$u(y) \le \int_{\Delta(y,r)} u(x)dx \le \int_{\Delta(y,r)} w(x),$$

and the result follows.

We can also get the following very similar lemma, with the proof being completely analogous.

Lemma IV.24. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, and let ω be a non-empty proper open subset of Ω . If $u \in \mathcal{PSH}(\Omega), \ v \in \mathcal{PSH}(\Omega \setminus \overline{\omega}), \ and \ \limsup_{x \to y} v(x) \leq u(y) \ for \ each \ y \in \partial \omega \cap \Omega,$ then the formula

$$w = \begin{cases} u & : t \in \omega \\ \max\{u, v\} & : t \in \Omega \setminus \omega \end{cases}$$

defines a plurisubharmonic function in Ω .

Note that if $F: \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n$ is holomorphic on $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ with isolated zeros, there is always ϵ such that $B_{\epsilon}(w) \subset\subset \Omega$, and such that w is the only zero of F in $\overline{B_{\epsilon}(w)}$. The argument is the same in higher dimensions as in one dimension, and the one dimensional argument can be found in Lemma IV.12.

The proof of the next lemma is complicated, drawing its motivation from work Demailly did on regularity of the pluricomplex Green function in [10]. I suspect that there may be a different method which would yield a more streamlined proof.

Lemma IV.25. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $F:\Omega\to\mathbb{C}^n$ be holomorphic with isolated zeros, and let ϵ be such that $B_{\epsilon}(w)\subset\subset\Omega$, and such that w is the only zero of F in $\overline{B_{\epsilon}(w)}$. If there exists a negative plurisubharmonic function ϕ on $B_{\epsilon}(w)$ so that $\phi - \log ||F|| < C$ in a neighborhood of w and $\phi(p) > \log ||F(p)/\epsilon||$ for some $p \in B_{\epsilon}(w)$, then there exists a continuous negative plurisubharmonic function ϕ_c on $B_{\epsilon}(w)$ so that $\phi_c - \log ||F|| < C$ in a neighborhood of w and $\phi_c(p) > \log ||F(p)/\epsilon||$.

Proof. We claim that the following inequalities hold for ϕ for some constant a > 0 and for all $z \in B_{\epsilon}(w)$.

(4.12)
$$\log ||F(z)/\epsilon|| \le \phi(z) \le \log ||F(z)|| + a.$$

The first inequality follows because we may assume that $\phi \ge \log ||F/\epsilon||$ by considering instead max $\{\phi, \log ||F/\epsilon||\}$. The second inequality follows from Lemma IV.20.

There is a decreasing sequence of smooth plurisubharmonic functions ϕ_j so that $\lim_{j\to\infty}\phi_j=\phi$. We can justify this claim using Theorem IV.21. To verify the hypotheses, we will show that $B^F_\epsilon(w)$ is hyperconvex (see definition II.15). It is bounded, and we claim that $\log ||F/\epsilon||$ is a continuous negative plurisubharmonic exhaustion function. To show that $\log ||F/\epsilon||$ is exhausting, we consider the sets in $B_\epsilon(w)$ where $\{\log ||F/\epsilon|| < c\}$ for c < 0. Suppose z_i is a sequence of points in such a set which is not contained in any compact of $B_\epsilon(w)$. Then a subsequence converges to a point $z^* \in \partial B_\epsilon(w)$. By continuity $\log ||F(z^*)/\epsilon|| \le c$. Again by continuity, there will be a ball around z^* on which $\log ||F/\epsilon|| < c/2 < 0$. But then that ball is contained in $B_\epsilon(w)$, so z^* could not have been a boundary point. Note that we could also justify the decreasing sequence of smooth plurisubharmonic functions using Theorem IV.22.

Let us consider the set $\{z \in B_{\epsilon}(w) : ||F(z)|| = \delta\}$, and choose $\delta \in (0, \epsilon)$ so that on this set

(4.13)
$$\phi_j(z) \ge \phi(z) \ge \log(\delta/\epsilon) > (1 - \delta)\log(\delta^2).$$

Here we are using equation 4.12 and choosing δ small enough so that in the last inequality the dominating terms are $\log(\delta)$ and $\log(\delta^2)$.

Now let us consider the set $\{z \in B_{\epsilon}(w) : ||F(z)|| = \eta\}$ and choose $\eta \in (0, \delta)$ so that on this set

$$(4.14) (1 - \delta)\log(\delta\eta) > \log(\eta) + a \ge \phi(z).$$

Here again we are using equation 4.12 and picking η small enough so that in the last inequality the dominating terms are $(1 - \delta) \log(\eta)$ and $\log(\eta)$. We claim that we can use equation 4.14 to choose j large enough so that

$$\phi_i < (1 - \delta) \log(\delta \eta)$$

on the set $\{z \in B_{\epsilon}(w) : ||F(z)|| = \eta\}$; and we claim that we can choose j large enough so that

$$\phi_i(z) < 0$$

on the set $\{z \in B_{\epsilon}(w) : ||F(z)|| = \epsilon e^{-\delta^3}\}$. If these inequalities hold at a point, they hold in a neighborhood of that point since ϕ_j is smooth. Since the sets we are looking at are compact, finitely many such neighborhoods are enough.

We can now use lemmas IV.23 and IV.24 to show that with the above choices of δ , η and j, the following formula defines a continuous negative plurisubharmonic function on $B_{\epsilon}(w)$:

$$u_c = \begin{cases} (1 - \delta) \log(\delta ||F(z)||) - \delta & : ||F(z)|| \le \eta \\ \max \left\{ (1 - \delta) \log(\delta ||F(z)||) - \delta, \phi_j - \delta \right\} & : \eta \le ||F(z)|| \le \delta \\ \phi_j - \delta & : \delta \le ||F(z)|| \le \epsilon e^{-\delta} \\ \max \left\{ \phi_j - \delta, \delta^{-2} \log ||F(z)/\epsilon|| \right\} & : \epsilon e^{-\delta} \le ||F(z)|| \le \epsilon e^{-\delta^3} \\ \delta^{-2} \log ||F(z)/\epsilon|| & : \epsilon e^{-\delta^3} \le ||F(z)|| \le \epsilon \end{cases}$$

Let us comment about what happens on the set $\{z \in B_{\epsilon}(w) : ||F(z)|| = \epsilon e^{-\delta}\}$. On this set

$$\delta^{-2}\log||F(z)/\epsilon|| = -1/\delta.$$

We also have $\phi_j > \phi > \log ||F/\epsilon|| = -\delta$, and $-2\delta > -1/\delta$ for δ small enough.

We will now show that hypotheses of lemmas IV.23 and IV.24 are satisfied. One can check using the arguments above that the appropriate inequalities hold on each boundary. We need to check that each of our sets is open and proper within the next open set. Openness is clear. To show proper containment, we will show that inside $B_{\epsilon}(w)$

$$\{||F|| < \eta\} \subset\subset \{||F|| < \delta\} \subset\subset \{||F|| < e^{-\delta}\} \subset\subset \{||F|| < e^{-\delta^3}\} \subset\subset B_{\epsilon}(w).$$

Since $B_{\epsilon}^F(w) \subset\subset \Omega$, we have that $\partial B_{\epsilon}^F(w) \subset \{||F(z)|| = \epsilon\}$. This is because for every point b in $\partial B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$, there is a sequence $b_i \in B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ converging to b. By continuity of F, $||F(b)|| \leq \epsilon$. But since $b \in \Omega$, if $||F(b)|| < \epsilon$ we would have $b \in B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$. So for any $\epsilon' < \epsilon$ the set $\{||F|| < \epsilon'\}$ that is inside $B_{\epsilon}(w)$ is relatively compact in $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$. As such the boundary of any such set is contained in $B_{\epsilon}(w)$. The argument for relative compactness of each set in the next now follows the subsequence

argument above by showing that the boundary of each of these sets is contained in the set $\{||F|| = \epsilon'\}$.

Now we know that u_c is plurisubharmonic, and it is clear that u_c is continuous and negative, so we just need to show it has the correct behavior near the singularity. In fact, what we will need to do instead is consider the function $u_c/(1-\delta)$, and it is clear that this function has the correct behavior in a neighborhood of the singularity.

Let $0 < ||F(p)|| = P < \epsilon$. Then we can pick δ small enough so that $\delta < P < \epsilon e^{-\delta}$, so that

$$u_c(p) = \phi_j(p) - \delta.$$

Let b > 0 be such that

$$\phi(p) = \log ||P/\epsilon|| + b.$$

If we pick

$$\delta < \max \left\{ \frac{b}{1 - \log ||P/\epsilon||}, 1 \right\},$$

then we get

$$u_c(p)/(1-\delta) - \log||P/\epsilon|| = \frac{\phi_j(p) - \delta}{1-\delta} - \frac{\log||P/\epsilon||(1-\delta)}{(1-\delta)}$$
$$\geq \frac{\phi(p) - \log||P/\epsilon|| - \delta + \delta\log||P/\epsilon||}{1-\delta}$$
$$= \frac{b + \delta(\log||P/\epsilon|| - 1)}{1-\delta}$$

which will be positive if $\delta < 1$ and if

$$\delta(\log||P/\epsilon|| - 1) > -b.$$

Since $\log ||P/\epsilon|| < 0, \log ||P/\epsilon|| - 1 < 0$ as well. So we get the condition

$$\delta < \frac{-b}{(\log||P/\epsilon|| - 1)},$$

which was the condition we required of b. Thus $\phi_c = \frac{u_c}{1-\delta}$ has the desired properties.

The following lemma can be found in [23, p. 230], see also [10] and [9].

Lemma IV.26 (Demailly). Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n , let $a \in \Omega$, and let $u, v \in \mathcal{PSH} \cap \mathcal{C}(\Omega, [-\infty, \infty))$ be such that $u^{-1}(-\infty) = v^{-1}(-\infty) = \{a\}$, u < v in $\Omega \setminus \{a\}$, and

$$\limsup_{z \to a} \frac{u(z)}{v(z)} = 1.$$

Then $(dd^c u)^n(\{a\}) \le (dd^c v)^n(\{a\}).$

The following lemma can be found in [10].

Lemma IV.27 (Demailly). Let $\phi, \psi : \Omega \to [-\infty, 0)$ be continuous plurisubharmonic exhaustion functions so that $\phi \leq \psi \leq 0$ and $\int_{\Omega} (dd^c \phi)^n < \infty$. Then $\int_{\Omega} (dd^c \psi)^n < \int_{\Omega} (dd^c \phi)^n$.

Lemma IV.28. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $F: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^n$ be holomorphic with isolated zeros, and consider a particular zero w. Let ϵ be small enough so that $B_{\epsilon}(w) \subset\subset \Omega$ and $\overline{B_{\epsilon}(w)}$ contains no zeros other than w. Then the generalized Green function $U_{B_{\epsilon}(w)} = \log ||F/\epsilon||$.

Proof. Suppose that there exists u which is plurisubharmonic and nonpositive on $B_{\epsilon}(w)$, with that $u \leq \log ||F|| + c$ in a neighborhood of w, so that $u \geq \log ||F/\epsilon||$

and $u(p) > \log ||F(p)/\epsilon||$ at some point $p \in B_{\epsilon}(w)$. By Lemma IV.25 we can assume that u is continuous. Let γ be a strictly plurisubharmonic function defined on a neighborhood of $\overline{B_{\epsilon}(w)}$ such that $\gamma \leq -1$ in $B_{\epsilon}(w)$. Choose $\epsilon' > 0$ small enough that

$$u(p) + \epsilon' \gamma(p) > \log ||F(p)/\epsilon||$$

in a neighborhood of p, and define the function

$$\omega(z) = \max \{ u(z) + \epsilon' \gamma(z), \log ||F(z)/\epsilon|| \}.$$

Then there are constants C_1 and C_2 with $C_1 < C_2$ so that in a neighborhood of w

$$\log ||F(z)|| + C_1 < \omega(z) < \log ||F(z)|| + C_2.$$

Thus

$$\limsup_{z \to w} \left(1 + \frac{C_1}{\log ||F(z)||} \right) \ge \limsup_{z \to w} \frac{\omega(z)}{\log ||F(z)||} \ge \limsup_{z \to w} \left(1 + \frac{C_2}{\log ||F(z)||} \right),$$

so that

$$\limsup_{z \to w} \frac{\omega(z)}{\log ||F(z)||} = 1.$$

Similarly,

$$\limsup_{z \to w} \frac{1}{1 + \frac{C_1}{\log ||F(z)||}} \le \limsup_{z \to w} \frac{\log ||F(z)||}{\omega(z)} \le \limsup_{z \to w} \frac{1}{1 + \frac{C_2}{\log ||F(z)||}}.$$

so that

$$\limsup_{z \to w} \frac{\log ||F(z)||}{\omega(z)} = 1.$$

By applying lemma IV.26 twice we get

$$(4.15) (dd^c \omega)^n(\{w\}) = (dd^c \log ||F(z)||)^n(\{w\}).$$

Note that ω and $\log ||F/\epsilon||$ are negative continuous plurisubharmonic exhaustion functions on $B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ with $\log ||F/\epsilon|| \leq \omega$, so we can use lemma IV.27 to show that

$$(dd^c\omega)^n(\{w\}) \le \int_{B_{\epsilon}(w)} (dd^c\omega)^n$$

$$\le \int_{B_{\epsilon}(w)} (dd^c\log||F/\epsilon||)^n = (dd^c\log||F(z)||)^n(\{w\}).$$

This equation, together with 4.15 and Lemma IV.32, imply that

$$(dd^c\omega)^n|_{B_{\epsilon}^F(w)\setminus\{w\}}\equiv 0.$$

But this contradicts the fact that $\omega = u + \epsilon \gamma$ in a neighborhood of p, since $u + \epsilon \gamma$ is strictly plurisubharmonic.

Before proving the next lemma, we will need to make a small detour to show that the Monge-Ampère mass of $\log ||F||$ is finite at zeros of ||F||.

Definition IV.29 (Radon Measure). A Radon measure on Ω is a continuous \mathbb{C} -linear functional on $\mathcal{C}_0(\Omega, \mathbb{C})$.

The Riesz representation theorem says that for every Radon measure μ there is a corresponding unique complex Borel measure μ on Ω so that

$$\mu(\phi) = \int_{\Omega} \phi d\mu.$$

One can show that for any compact set $K \subset \Omega$,

(4.16)
$$\mu(K) = \inf \left\{ \mu(\phi) : \phi \in \mathcal{C}_0(\Omega, [0, 1)), K \subset \phi^{-1}(1) \right\}.$$

Let $\psi \in \mathcal{PSH} \cap L^{\infty}_{loc}$. Since $(dd^c\psi)^n$ is a positive (n,n) current, it is in fact a Radon measure so we can define $(dd^c\psi)^n(\{a\})$ using Equation 4.16 for a point $a \in \Omega$. We can also define the Monge-Ampère operator on wider classes of functions, and in particular for the class

$$\mathcal{PSH}(\Omega; a) = \mathcal{PSH}(\Omega) \cap L_{loc}^{\infty}(\Omega \setminus \{a\}).$$

The following theorem is then used to define the Monge-Ampère operator for functions in $\mathcal{PSH}(\Omega; a)$, [23].

Theorem IV.30. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $u \in \mathcal{PSH}(\Omega; a)$. Then there exists a positive Borel measure μ on Ω so that, for any decreasing sequence $\{u_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \mathcal{PSH} \cap L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega)$ convergent to u pointwise in Ω , the sequence $\{(dd^c u_j)^n\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is weak*-convergent to μ .

Thus for $\psi \in \mathcal{PSH}(\Omega; a)$, $(dd^c\psi)^n$ is again a positive Radon measure and we can define $(dd^c\psi)^n(\{a\})$ using Equation 4.16 for a point $a \in \Omega$. In particular we will use this for $\psi = \log ||F||$, where $F : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^m$ is holomorphic with isolated singularities.

In what follows, we will also need the Chern-Levine-Nirenberg estimate, [23].

Theorem IV.31 (Chern-Levine-Nirenberg estimate). Let Ω be an open neighborhood of a compact set $K \subset \mathbb{C}^n$. Then there exist a constant C > 0 and a compact set $L \subset \Omega \setminus K$, which depend on K and Ω , such that for all $u_1, ... u_n \in \mathcal{PSH} \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega)$

$$\int_{K} dd^{c} u_{1} \wedge \dots \wedge dd^{c} u_{n} \leq C||u_{1}||_{L} \cdot \dots \cdot ||u_{n}||_{L}.$$

Now we can show that the Monge-Ampère mass of $\log ||F||$, for $F:\Omega\to\mathbb{C}^n$ a holomorphic function, is finite at isolated zeros of ||F||. We will need this lemma in a later proof.

Lemma IV.32. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ and let $F: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^m$ be such that ||F|| has isolated zeros. Then the Monge-Ampère mass of $\log ||F(z)||$ at each of the zeros of ||F|| is finite.

Proof. Let $u = \log ||F||$ and consider the functions $u_j = \max \{\log ||F||, -j\}$. Then $u_j \to u$ pointwise and the u_j are decreasing. By Theorem IV.30

$$(dd^{c} \log ||F||)^{n}(\{w\}) = \inf \left\{ \mu(\phi) : \phi \in \mathcal{C}_{0}(\Omega, [0, 1)), w \in \phi^{-1}(1) \right\}$$

$$= \inf \left\{ \lim_{j \to \infty} \mu_{j}(\phi) : \phi \in \mathcal{C}_{0}(\Omega, [0, 1)), w \in \phi^{-1}(1) \right\}$$

$$= \inf \left\{ \lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \phi d\mu_{j} : \phi \in \mathcal{C}_{0}(\Omega, [0, 1)), w \in \phi^{-1}(1) \right\}.$$

Suppose that $\phi \in \mathcal{C}_0(\Omega, [0, 1)), w \in \phi^{-1}(1)$. Then if we pick $\Omega = B_{\epsilon}^F(w)$ and $K = Supp(\phi)$, using IV.31 we get

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \phi(dd^c u_j)^n \le \lim_{j \to \infty} C||u_j||_L^n.$$

Since $||u_j||_L$ is finite for each j and eventually the same for all j, we are done.

Lemma IV.33. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n , and let $F:\Omega\to\mathbb{C}^n$ be holomorphic with isolated zeros. Then the upper semicontinuous regularization U^* (see definition II.16) of the generalized Green function U satisfies $U^* < \log ||F|| + C(w)$ in a neighborhood of each zero w.

Proof. According to Corollary IV.10 and Lemma IV.28 for each zero w there is a corresponding neighborhood $B_{\epsilon}(w)$ so that

$$U_{\Omega}^*|_{B_{\epsilon}(w)} \le U_{B_{\epsilon}(w)}^* = \log||F/\epsilon||.$$

So pick $C(w) = -\log(\epsilon)$.

The following theorem can be found in [27, p. 54].

Theorem IV.34 (Lelong). Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n . Let $(f_i)_{i\in I}$ be a family of plurisubharmonic function on Ω that are bounded above on all compacts. Define $\mathcal{F}(z) = \sup_{i\in I} f_i(z)$. Then the upper semicontinuous regularization $\mathcal{F}^*(z)$ is plurisubharmonic on Ω .

Theorem IV.35. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n , and let $F:\Omega\to\mathbb{C}^n$ be holomorphic with isolated zeros. Then the generalized Green function U is plurisubharmonic.

Proof. We will show that the upper semicontinuous regularization U^* is a candidate function. Clearly, $U^* \leq 0$. Also, Lemma IV.33 shows that $U^* - \log ||F|| < C(w)$ in a neighborhood of each zero w. By Theorem IV.34, we also know that U^* is plurisubharmonic. Thus $U^* = U$, so U itself is plurisubharmonic.

Recall the maximal plurisubharmonic functions defined in definition II.13. The following well known theorem relates maximal plurisubharmonic functions to certain solutions of a Monge-Ampère equation, see [23, p. 158] and [4].

Theorem IV.36. Let Ω be an open subset onf \mathbb{C}^n , and let u be a locally bounded plurisubharmonic function on Ω . Then u is maximal if and only if it satisfies the homogeneous Monge-Ampère equation $(dd^c u)^n = 0$.

The following theorem now follows in the same way that it did for the Green function, see [23, p. 222].

Theorem IV.37. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n , and let $F:\Omega\to\mathbb{C}^n$ be holomorphic with finitely many isolated zeros. Let Z be the zero set of ||F|| on Ω . Then U is maximal in $\Omega\setminus Z$, or equivalently

$$(dd^c U)^n \equiv 0$$

in $\Omega \setminus Z$.

Proof. Let $G \subset\subset \Omega \setminus Z$, and let $v \in \mathcal{PSH}(G)$ that is upper semicontinuous on \overline{G} be such that $v \leq U$ on ∂G . Then define

$$u(z) = \begin{cases} \max \{v(z), U(z)\} & : z \in G \\ U & : z \in \Omega \setminus G. \end{cases}$$

u(z) is plurisubharmonic by Lemma IV.23.

Since v < 0 on ∂G , by the maximum principle v < 0 on G. Thus u is a candidate for U, which means that that $v \le U$ in G. Thus U is maximal. By Theorem IV.36, its Monge-Ampère mass is zero off Z.

There are now a number of theorems which should follow directly in analogy to how they were proved for the standard Green function. We give an example of one such theorem.

Theorem IV.38. Let $(\Omega_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ be an increasing sequence of domains in \mathbb{C}^n and let F be a holomorphic function defined from $\Omega = \bigcup \Omega_j$ to \mathbb{C}^n such that F has isolated zeros. Then

$$U_{\Omega}^F = \lim_{j \to \infty} U_{\Omega_j}^F.$$

Proof. If for any Ω_j , $U_{\Omega_j}^F \equiv -\infty$ the result is trivial by Corollary IV.10. If not, then by Theorem IV.35 we get $U_{\Omega_j}^F \in \mathcal{PSH}(\Omega_j)$. Define

$$g_{\Omega}^F := \lim_{j \to \infty} U_{\Omega_j}^F.$$

Since $U_{\Omega_j}^F$ is a decreasing sequence of plurisubharmonic functions, g_{Ω}^F is either identically $-\infty$ or plurisubharmonic. By Corollary IV.10 we have $g_{\Omega}^F \geq U_{\Omega}^F$, so if g_{Ω}^F is identically $-\infty$ then we are done. If g_{Ω}^F is plurisubharmonic, then $g \leq 0$ and by Lemma IV.28 and Corollary IV.10 $g_{\Omega}^F \leq \log ||F|| + C(w)$ in a neighborhood of each zero w of F. Thus $g_{\Omega}^F \leq U_{\Omega}^F$.

CHAPTER V

Other Examples

5.1 Balanced Domains with Holes

In general, it is very hard to calculate the Green function or Azukawa metric of a given domain. One notable exception is balanced pseudoconvex domains, where the term balanced indicates that $\Delta \cdot \Omega = \Omega$ for Δ the unit disk in \mathbb{C} . On balanced pseudoconvex domains, the Green function and Azukawa metric behave as they do on disks.

If Ω is a balanced pseudoconvex domain, then $u(0,w) = \log h(w)$, where h(w) was defined in equation 3.17, [19, p. 119]. This means that on balanced pseudoconvex domains, the Green function with pole at the origin is the same as the Green function of each circular slice. One inequality is given by inclusion argument, which shows that the Green function would be smaller than or equal to the behavior on a slice. One can then show the other inequality by checking that $\log h(z) \in \mathcal{K}_{\Omega}(0)$. This follows because, for a balanced domain, $\log h(z)$ is plurisubharmonic if and only if Ω is pseudoconvex.

We study the Green function on balanced pseudoconvex domains Ω with a compact set K removed. One example of a domain of this type is the ring domain $\Omega_r \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, where

$$\Omega_r = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : r^2 < ||z||^2 < 1 \}.$$

Fornaess and Lee showed that, in directions not touching the inner boundary, the Sibony metric on the ring domain is the same as the Sibony metric on the ball, [12]. It is reasonable to suspect that in these directions the Green function is the same as the Green function on the ball. More generally, we will show that the Green function on $\Omega \setminus \{K\}$ is the same as the Green function on Ω in directions not cutting through K. It follows that the Azukawa metric on $\Omega \setminus \{K\}$ is also the same as the Azukawa metric on Ω in these directions.

Theorem V.1. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a balanced pseudoconvex domain and let 0 denote the origin in \mathbb{C}^n . Let $K \subset\subset \Omega$ so that $0 \notin K$. Let $D(z) = \Omega \cap \{\alpha z : \alpha \in \mathbb{C}\}$ be the disk through z and the origin. If $D(z) \cap K$ is a closed subset of D(z) which is the $-\infty$ set for some plurisubharmonic function on D(z), then

$$u_{\Omega\setminus K}(0,z) = u_{\Omega}(0,z) = \log\frac{||z||}{r},$$

where r is the radius of D(z). Also,

$$F_A^{\Omega \setminus K}(0,\xi) = F_A^{\Omega}(0,\xi) = \frac{||\xi||}{r}.$$

Proof of Theorem V.1. Let S(z) denote the slice through z in Ω_K , so that $S(z) = D(z) \cap K^c$. Consider the function f(z) defined on S(z) given by

$$f(z) = u(0, z) - \log \frac{||z||}{r},$$

where u(0,z) is the pluricomplex Green function on $\Omega \setminus \{K\}$ with pole at the origin and where r is the radius of D(z). Although the function $\log ||z||$ is not

pluriharmonic on $\Omega \setminus \{0\}$, it is harmonic on $D(z) \setminus \{0\}$. So f(z) is subharmonic on $S(z) \setminus \{0\}$. Furthermore, by the following calculation f(z) is bounded near the origin, so f(z) extends to be subharmonic on S(z).

$$f(z) = u(0, z) - \log||z|| + \log||z|| - \log\frac{||z||}{r}$$

$$\leq C + \log r$$

Notice that f(z) is bounded above on $S(z) = D(z) \cap K^c$ since $\log ||z||$ is bounded there. So if $D(z) \cap K$ is a closed subset of D(z) which is the $-\infty$ set of a plurisub-harmonic function, then f(z) extends to a subharmonic function on D(z). We will call this extended function $\tilde{f}(z)$.

Since u_{Ω} is given by the logarithmic Minkowski function, we know that $u_{\Omega}|_{\partial\Omega}=0$. Since $\Omega_K\subset\Omega$ we know that $u_{\Omega_K}\geq u_{\Omega}$. Thus $u_{\Omega_K}|_{\partial\Omega_K}=0$, so $\tilde{f}(z)|_{\partial D(z)}=0$. Also, since

$$\log \frac{||z||}{r} = u_{\Omega}(0, z)|_{\Omega_K},$$

and since $u_{\Omega_K} \geq u_{\Omega}$, $\tilde{f}(z) \geq 0$. Now we can apply the maximum principle on D(z) to get that $\tilde{f}(z) = 0$.

5.2 Boundary Behavior of the Green Function

The pluricomplex Green function is known to be continuous on hyperconvex domains, [10]. By exhausting a pseudoconvex domain with hyperconvex domains, it directly follows that on pseudoconvex domains the Green function is upper-semicontinuous. In fact, the Green function is upper-semicontinuous on all domains as we proved in Section 3.1. It is known that there are cases in which the Green function is only

upper-semicontinuous and not not continuous. In this section we construct an example of a pseudoconvex domain where the Green function cannot be extended continuously to the boundary.

Lemma V.2. There is a neighborhood of (0,0) on which the function

$$\max \left\{ -\sum_{n} \epsilon_n \log \frac{1}{n} + \sum_{n} \epsilon_n \log \left| \frac{1}{n} w - (1 - \frac{1}{n}) z \right|, -1 \right\}$$

is identically -1.

Proof. We will show that

$$f(z, w) = -\sum_{n} \epsilon_n \log \frac{1}{n} + \sum_{n} \epsilon_n \log \left| \frac{1}{n} w - (1 - \frac{1}{n}) z \right|$$

is less than $\log |(z, w)/2| + C$, which is less than -1 in a neighborhood of (0, 0). One can check that f(z, w) is well defined.

$$\log \left| \frac{1}{n}w - (1 - \frac{1}{n})z \right|$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \log \left(\frac{1}{n^2} |w|^2 + \frac{2}{n} \left(1 - \frac{1}{n} \right) \operatorname{Re}(w\overline{z}) + \left(1 - \frac{1}{n} \right)^2 |z|^2 \right)$$

If $|w| \ge |z|$ then $\text{Re}(w\overline{z}) \le |w\overline{z}| \le |w|^2$. This gives us

$$\frac{1}{2}\log\left(\frac{1}{n^2}|w|^2 + \frac{2}{n}\left(1 - \frac{1}{n}\right)\operatorname{Re}(w\overline{z}) + \left(1 - \frac{1}{n}\right)^2|z|^2\right)$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2}\log\left(\frac{2n-1}{n^2}|w|^2 + \left(1 - \frac{1}{n}\right)^2|z|^2\right)$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2}\log\left(|w|^2 + |z|^2\right)$$

If $|z| \ge |w|$ then $\text{Re}(w\overline{z}) \le |w\overline{z}| \le |z|^2$. This gives us

$$\frac{1}{2}\log\left(\frac{1}{n^2}|w|^2 + \frac{2}{n}\left(1 - \frac{1}{n}\right)\operatorname{Re}(w\overline{z}) + \left(1 - \frac{1}{n}\right)^2|z|^2\right)
\leq \frac{1}{2}\log\left(\frac{1}{n^2}|w|^2 + \left(1 - \frac{1}{n^2}\right)|z|^2\right)
\leq \frac{1}{2}\log\left(|w|^2 + |z|^2\right)$$

So

$$f(z) = -\sum_{n} \epsilon_n \log \frac{1}{n} + \sum_{n} \epsilon_n \log \left| \frac{1}{n} w - (1 - \frac{1}{n}) z \right|$$

$$\leq C + \left(\sum_{n} \epsilon_n \right) \log |(z, w)|$$

we can pick

$$\left(\sum_{n} \epsilon_{n}\right) = 1$$

.

Theorem V.3. There exists a domain $\Omega \subset\subset \mathbb{C}^2$ with $(0,0)\in\Omega$ so that the pluricomplex Green's function with singularity at zero, $u_{\Omega,0}$, is not in $C(\overline{\Omega}\setminus 0)$. The domain Ω has the following defining function

$$(5.1) \qquad \log|(z,w)| + \max\left\{-\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \epsilon_i \log \frac{1}{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \epsilon_i \log \left| \frac{1}{i}w - \left(1 - \frac{1}{i}\right)z\right|, -1\right\}$$

and ϵ_i are chosen so that

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \epsilon_i \log \frac{1}{i}$$

converges to a finite number [14, p.30].

Proof. Let $\Omega = \{(z, w) : \rho(z, w) < 0\}$ where ρ is given by 5.1. The point (0, 0) is in Ω because $\log(0) = -\infty$. Also, $\rho(z, w) \ge \log|(z, w)| - 1$, so we have for all $(z, w) \in \Omega$, that |(z, w)| < e. Consider the sequence

$$t_n = \left(\frac{1}{n}, 1 - \frac{1}{n}\right)$$

$$|t_n|^2 = 1 - \frac{2}{n} + \frac{2}{n^2}$$

We can check that $t_n \in \Omega$ for all n. In fact, we have that Clearly $t_n \to t = (0,1)$ as $n \to \infty$. Pick ϵ_n so that

$$\sum_{n} \epsilon_n \log \frac{1}{n} > -\infty$$

Then $t = (0,1) \in \partial \Omega$. Consider $D_{t_n} = \{ct_n : |ct_n| < e\}$ for $c \in \mathbb{C}$. Since for $(z,w) \in D_{t_n}$

$$\max \left\{ -\sum_{n} \epsilon_n \log \frac{1}{n} + \sum_{n} \epsilon_n \log \left| \frac{1}{n} w - (1 - \frac{1}{n}) z \right|, -1 \right\} = -1$$

we have that $D_{t_n} \in \Omega$. This means that $u_{\Omega,0}(z) \leq u_{D_n,0}(z)$ for $z \in D_n$. This follows from noticing that if g < 0 is a plurisubharmonic function on Ω so that $g(z) \to \log |z| + a$ as $z \to 0$, then $g|_{D_n} < 0$ is a subharmonic function on D_n so that $g|_{D_n} \to \log |z| + a$ as $z \to 0$. Now consider $u_{D_n,0}(t_n)$. Since $|t_n| < 1$ and since $u_{D_n,0}(z,w) = \log |(z,w)/e|$ it follows that $u_{D_n,0}(t_n) < \log(1/e)$ for all t_n . Thus

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} u_{\Omega,0}(t_n) \le \lim_{n \to \infty} u_{D_n,0}(t_n) \le \log(1/e)$$

Now consider the sequence

$$a_n = \left(0, 1 - \frac{1}{n}\right)$$

$$\rho(a_n) = \log\left(1 - \frac{1}{n}\right) + \max\left\{-\sum_n \epsilon_n \log\frac{1}{n} + \sum_n \epsilon_n \log\left|\frac{1}{n}\left(1 - \frac{1}{n}\right)\right|, -1\right\}$$

$$= \log\left(1 - \frac{1}{n}\right) + \max\left\{\sum_n \epsilon_n \log\left|\left(1 - \frac{1}{n}\right)\right|, -1\right\}$$

$$< 0$$

So $a_n \in \Omega$. Now we want to show that ρ is in the admissible class. By definition, $\rho < 0$ on Ω . In addition, we will show in a calculation below that in a neighborhood of (0,0)

$$\max \left\{ -\sum_{n} \epsilon_n \log \frac{1}{n} + \sum_{n} \epsilon_n \log \left| \frac{1}{n} w - (1 - \frac{1}{n}) z \right|, -1 \right\} = -1$$

From this fact, is clear that $\rho \to \log |(z,w)| - 1$ as $(z,w) \to (0,0)$. Finally, it is clear from the definition that ρ is plurisubharmonic. The only point worth mentioning is that

$$\log \left| \frac{1}{n} w - (1 - \frac{1}{n}) z \right|$$

is negative and plurisubharmonic, so the partial sums of

$$\sum_{n} \epsilon_n \log \left| \frac{1}{n} w - (1 - \frac{1}{n}) z \right|$$

are a decreasing sequence of plurisubharmonic functions. Since ρ is in the admissible class for Ω we get that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} u_{\Omega,0}(a_n) \ge \lim_{n \to \infty} \rho(a_n) = 0$$

CHAPTER VI

Skwarczyński Metric

6.1 Skwarczyński Completeness and the Bergman Space

An interesting open question that many people are interested in is whether there is a pseudoconvex domain that has finite dimensional Bergman space, which is the space of L^2 holomorphic functions. Wiegerinck has an example of a non-pseudoconvex domain with finite dimensional Bergman space in [34], but the example cannot be easily modified to the pseudoconvex case.

A related question which motivates this section was whether Bergman completeness implies that the Bergman space is infinite dimensional. We prove that statement for a closely related metric, called the Skwarczyński distance, which was defined in Section 2.3. We will now define what it means for a domain to be Skwarczyński complete and prove the result.

Definition VI.1. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n . The distance induced by ρ is continuous and induces a topology on Ω . Ω is said to be ρ -complete if any ρ -Cauchy sequence $\{z_{\nu}\}_{\nu=1}^{\infty} \subset \Omega$ converges to a point $z_0 \in \Omega$ with respect to the usual topology.

Theorem VI.2. If Ω is ρ -complete, then $dim(L_h^2(\Omega)) = \infty$.

Proof. Suppose that $L_h^2(\Omega)$ is finite dimesional. Then its unit ball is compact. Consider the following functions of norm one:

$$f_{z'}(\cdot) := \frac{K(\cdot, z')}{\sqrt{K(z', z')}}$$

where $z' \in \Omega$. To check their norm we have

$$\left(\int_{\Omega} f_{z'} \overline{f_{z'}}\right)^{1/2} = \left(\int_{\Omega} \frac{K(\cdot, z')}{\sqrt{K(z', z')}} \overline{\frac{K(\cdot, z')}{\sqrt{K(z', z')}}}\right)^{1/2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{K(z', z')}} \left(\int_{\Omega} K(\cdot, z') \overline{K(\cdot, z')}\right)^{1/2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{K(z', z')}} \sqrt{K(z', z')}$$

$$= 1$$

Take a sequence $\{z_{\nu}\}_{\nu=1}^{\infty}$ where $z_{\nu} \to z_{0}$ for some $z_{0} \in \partial\Omega$. Then since the unit ball is compact, the sequence $\{f_{z_{\nu}}\}_{\nu=1}^{\infty}$ has a subsequence which converges in the L^{2} norm to a function $f \in L_{h}^{2}(\Omega)$ with $||f||_{L_{h}^{2}} = 1$. Let us re-index this convergent subsequence as $\{f_{z_{j}}\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$. We claim that the sequence of points $\{z_{j}\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ is a Cauchy sequence in the norm induced by ρ . Since $z_{j} \to z_{0}$, we have a Cauchy sequence converging to a boundary point, so Ω will not be ρ -complete. Given $\epsilon > 0$ we need to show there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all $j_{1}, j_{2} > N$, $\rho_{\Omega}(z_{j_{1}}, z_{j_{2}}) < \epsilon$. Notice that

$$|\langle f_{z'}, f_{z''} \rangle| = \left| \int_{\Omega} f_{z'} \overline{f_{z''}} \right|$$

$$= \left| \int_{\Omega} \frac{K(\cdot, z')}{\sqrt{K(z', z')}} \frac{\overline{K(\cdot, z'')}}{\sqrt{K(z'', z'')}} \right|$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{K(z', z')} \sqrt{K(z'', z'')}} \left| \int_{\Omega} K(\cdot, z') \overline{K(\cdot, z'')} \right|$$

$$= \frac{|K_{\Omega}(z'', z')|}{\sqrt{K_{\Omega}(z', z')} \sqrt{K_{\Omega}(z'', z'')}}$$

$$= \frac{|K_{\Omega}(z', z'')|}{\sqrt{K_{\Omega}(z', z')} \sqrt{K_{\Omega}(z'', z'')}}$$

So that

$$\rho_{\Omega}(z', z'') = (1 - |\langle f_{z'}, f_{z''} \rangle|)^{1/2}$$

Let $f_{z_j}=f+g_j$. Pick N such that for all j>N, $||g_j||_{L^2_h}<\epsilon^2/3$. This is possible since $g_j=f_{z_j}-f$ converges to zero in the L^2 norm. Then if $j_1,j_2>N$

$$\begin{split} |< f_{z_{j_1}}, f_{z_{j_2}} > | &= | < f + g_{j_1}, f + g_{j_2} > | \\ &= | < f, f > + < f, g_{j_2} > + < g_{j_1}, f > + < g_{j_1}, g_{j_2} > | \\ &= | 1 + < f, g_{j_2} > + < g_{j_1}, f > + < g_{j_1}, g_{j_2} > | \\ &\geq 1 - | < f, g_{j_2} > | - | < g_{j_1}, f > | - | < g_{j_1}, g_{j_2} > | \\ &\geq 1 - ||f||_{L_h^2} ||g_{j_2}||_{L_h^2} - ||g_{j_1}||_{L_h^2} ||f||_{L_h^2} - ||g_{j_1}||_{L_h^2} ||g_{j_2}||_{L_h^2} \\ &= 1 - ||g_{j_2}||_{L_h^2} - ||g_{j_1}||_{L_h^2} - ||g_{j_1}||_{L_h^2} ||g_{j_2}||_{L_h^2} \\ &> 1 - \epsilon^2/3 - \epsilon^2/3 - \epsilon^4/9 \\ &> 1 - \epsilon^2 \end{split}$$

Thus for the N chosen, we have that for all $j_1, j_2 > N$, $\rho_{\Omega}(z_{j_1}, z_{j_2}) < \epsilon$, which proves our claim that the sequence $\{z_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ is ρ -Cauchy.

We note also that the converse of Theorem VI.2 is not true. It is known that the Skwarczynski metric is smaller than the Bergman metric so Skwarczynski complete domains are Bergman complete [19], and it is known that Bergman complete domains are pseudoconvex [7]. If domains with infinite dimensional Bergman space were always Skwarczynski complete, then such domains would always be pseudoconvex. But all bounded domains, including non-pseudoconvex domains, have infinite

dimensional Bergman space because for bounded domains all polynomials are in the Bergman space.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] J. M. Aroca, H. Hironaka, and J. L. Vicente. *Desingularisation theorems*, volume 30. Mem. Math. Inst. Jorge Juan, 1977.
- [2] K. Azukawa. Hyperbolicity of circular domains. Thoku Math. Journ., 35:403–413, 1983.
- [3] K. Azukawa. Two intrinsic pseudo-metrics with pseudoconvex indicatrices and starlike circular domains. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 38(4), 1986.
- [4] Eric Bedford and B. A. Taylor. The dirichlet problem for a complex monge-ampère equation. *Inventiones math*, 37:1–44, 1976.
- [5] E. Bierstone and P. Milman. A simple constructive proof of canonical resolution of singularities. *Prog. Math.*, 94, 1991.
- [6] E. Bierstone and P. Milman. Canonical desingularisation in characteristic zero by blowing up the maximum strata of a local invariant. *Invent. Math.*, 128(2):207–302, 1997.
- [7] J. Bremermann. Holomorphic continuation of the kernel and the Bergman metric. The University of Michigal Press, Ann Arbor, 1955.
- [8] C. Carathéodory. Theory of functions of a complex variable, volume II. Chelsea Publishing Company, 1960.
- [9] Jean-Pierre Demailly. Mesures de monge-ampère et caractérisation géométrique des variétés algébriques affines. Mémoire de la Société Mathématique de France, 19:1–125, 1985.
- [10] Jean-Pierre Demailly. Mesures de monge-ampère et mesures pluriharmoniques. Math. Z., 194:519-564, 1987.
- [11] C. Fefferman. The bergman kernel and biholomorphic equivalence of pseudoconvex domains. *Invent. Math.*, 26:1–65, 1974.
- [12] John Erik Fornæss and Lina Lee. Kobayashi, carathéodory, and sibony metric. *Complex Var. Elliptic Equ.*, 54(3-4):293–301, 2009.
- [13] John Erik Fornæss and R. Narasimhan. The levi problem on complex spaces with singularities. *Math. Ann.*, 248:47–72, 1980.
- [14] John Erik Fornæss and Berit Stensønes. Lectures on Counterexamples in Several Complex Variables. AMS Chelsea Publishing, 1987.
- [15] H. Grauert, T. Peternell, and R. Remmert. Several Complex Variables VII: sheaf-theoretical methods in complex analysis, volume 74 of Encyclopedia of mathematical sciences. Springer-Verlag, 1994.
- [16] K. T. Hahn. Inequality between the bergman metric and carathéodory differential metric. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, 68(2):193–194, 1978.

- [17] H. Hironaka. Resolution of singularities of an algebraic variety over a field of characteristic zero. Ann. Math., 79:109–326, 1964.
- [18] Marek Jarnicki and Peter Pflug. Invariant pseudodistances and pseudometrics- completeness and product property. *Annales, Pol. Math.*, 60:169–189, 1991.
- [19] Marek Jarnicki and Peter Pflug. Invariant Distances and Metrics in Complex Analysis. Walter de Gruyter, 1993.
- [20] Marek Jarnicki and Peter Pflug. Remarks on the pluricomplex green function. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 44:535–543, 1995.
- [21] Piotr Jucha. A remark on the dimension of the bergman space of some hartogs domains. arXiv, 2009.
- [22] Maciej Klimek. Infinitesimal pseudometrics and the schwarz lemma. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 105:134–140, 1989.
- [23] Maciej Klimek. Pluripotential Theory. Clarendon Press, 1991.
- [24] A. Kodama. Boundedness of circular domains. Proc. Japan Acad., 58:227–230, 1982.
- [25] Steven G. Krantz. Function Theory of Several Complex Variables. Pure & Applied Mathematics. John Wiley & Sons, 1982.
- [26] Steven G. Krantz. The carathéodory and kobayashi metrics and applications in compelex analysis. *Amer. Math Monthly*, 115(4):304–329, 2008.
- [27] Pierre Lelong. Fonctionnelles analytiques et fonctions entières. Presses de l'Université de Montréal, 1968.
- [28] James R. Munkres. Topology. Prentice Hall, second edition, 2000.
- [29] H. J. Reiffen. Die carathéodory distanz und ihre zugehörige differential-metrik. *Math. Annalen*, 161:315–324, 1965.
- [30] Walter Rudin. Function Theory in the Unit Ball of \mathbb{C}^n . Springer-Verlag, 1980.
- [31] N. Sibony. A Class of Hyperbolic Manifolds, volume 100 of Ann. of Math. Studies. Princeton Univ. Press, 1981.
- [32] C. M. Stanton. A characterization of the ball by its intrinsic metrics. *Math. Annalen*, 264:271–275, 1983.
- [33] Tetsuo Ueda. Fatou sets in complex dynamics on projective spaces. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 46(3), 1994.
- [34] Jan Wiegerinck. Domains with finite dimensional bergman space. *Math. Z.*, 187:559–562, 1984.